

The consumer attitude towards AI in marketing

- An experimental study of consumers attitudes and purchase

intention

Master Degree project Thesis within: Business administration (marketing) Number of credits: 30 **Programme of study:** Civilekonomporgrammet Authors: Frida Eickhoff Leonid Zhevak Tutor: Ulf Aagerup Jönköping May 2023

Master Thesis in Business Administration

Title:	The consumer attitude towards AI in marketin	
Authors:	Frida Eickhoff and Leonid Zhevak	
Tutor:	Ulf Aagerup	
Date:	2023-05-22	

Key terms: AI in marketing, diffusion of Innovation theory, consumer attitudes, Theory of planned behaviour, purchase intention, email marketing

Abstract

The use of AI has developed during the recent decades, and the application of it within different markets is continually growing. The application of it within marketing comes with different benefits that allow businesses to engage with the consumer and build a stronger relationship. The more AI is becoming applied in marketing, the more important it is to understand the consumers attitude towards its usage and effect of it on consumer purchase intention. The purpose of this study is to explore the effect of consumer attitudes towards AIgenerated content within email marketing on purchasing intention. Theory of planned behavior and diffusion of innovations theory are applied to formulate the hypotheses. The research was conducted using a quantitative method in an experimental context. An online survey divided into two parts was developed and distributed to participants in Sweden in ages from 18 and above. A total of 114 respondents were recorded in the first survey and of those, 71 respondents were recorded in the second survey. The data was then analyzed in SPSS. The results from the survey showed the element of compatibility within the theory of diffusion of innovation having a significant and positive effect on consumers attitude towards AI-usage in marketing. The relationship between the observability element and attitude was found to be non-significant. Additionally, no significant difference was found when comparing the experimental group and the control group. Lastly, attitude towards AI was found to have a significant and positive effect on purchasing intention in the experimental group.

Acknowledgments

The authors of this thesis paper are forever grateful for the support and encouragement provided by different individuals that have been involved in the process of conducting this thesis.

First, we would like to express a thank you to our tutor and supervisor Ulf Aagerup, that have shown interest in our research and provided us with advice and thoughts that have contributed to the evolving process of the thesis. Continually are we also grateful for the support and advice provided by out seminar group, that has taken the time to provide deep and meaningful feedback during the semester.

Further on, we would like to thank all the participants in the survey, for giving us your time to conduct the survey and provide information valuable for the thesis.

Finally, we would like to express a thank you to our friends and family for giving us energy and support to write the thesis during the late-night study sessions.

Fieder Eickhoff

Lanth

Frida Eickhoff

Leonid Zhevak

Jönköping International Business School May 2023

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
1.1 BACKGROUND	7
1.2 PROBLEM	
1.3 PURPOSE & RESEARCH QUESTION	11
1.4 DELIMITATIONS	11
1.5 DEFINITIONS	12
2. FRAME OF REFERENCE	
2.1 AI in marketing	
2.2 FACTORS AFFECTING ATTITUDE TOWARDS AI	
2.3 DIFFUSION OF INNOVATION	16
2.4 Attitude	19
2.5 THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR	21
2.6 Purchase intention	23
3. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	25
4. METHOD	
4.1 Research Philosophy	
4.2 Research Approach	
4.3 Research Strategy	
4.4 DATA COLLECTION	
4.5 Ethics	
4.6 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY	
5. RESULTS	
5.1 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	41
5.2 Reliability analysis	
5.3 Homoscedacity and Multicollinearity	
5.4 Hypotheses Testing H1 and H2 with Linear regression analysis	

5.5 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS SECOND QUESTIONNAIRE	
5.6 Hypothesis testing H3	50
6. DISCUSSION	53
6.1 Observability	
6.2 Compatibility	55
6.3 ATTITUDE AND PURCHASE INTENTION	
7. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	60
7.1 Conclusion	
7.2 Theoretical contributions	
7.3 MANAGERIAL IMPLICATIONS	61
7.4.1 IMITATIONS	
7.5 FUTURE RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS	65

1.1 Background

This background section will start with an introduction about the foundation of Artificial intelligence (AI), and the developments towards the use of it within marketing today. Further on, the relationship between AI and the consumer will be investigated with regards to their attitude and behavior. The following paragraphs will provide you as a reader with the foundation of the concepts of AI, marketing, and consumer behavior.

The development of technology has evolved during the last decades and in the eyes of the broad public, the world as we know it today is driven by technological achievements. Among the achievements of the last century, artificial intelligence was developed as a way to mimic intelligent behavior (Forbus, 2010). The common definition of artificial intelligence (AI) is a machine acting as a human-like mind. Today AI can be observed in our everyday life in different ways (Boden, 2016). According to Forbus (2010), in the early 2000s, AI had only been applied to search engines for internet companies, computer gaming, data mining, and mobile robots like vacuum cleaners (Forbus, 2010). This provides an insight into the wide usage rate of AI, within different fields and processes with each having a specific end goal. The advancements of AI are wide and extensive, the global market revenue of AI is expected to rise to an estimated value of 800 billion dollars by 2028 and to over 1.5 trillion by 2030 (Thormundsson, 2022). The process of AI developments has been extensive within different fields and is now integrated in multiple ways in our everyday life through the internet. A study by Xu and Li (2022) indicates that AI technologies are able to have a relation-based interaction with a human being.

The theory of diffusion of innovation is applied in this study to investigate how individuals adapt to new technological developments like AI, and the elements of observability and compatibility will be investigated. Observability refers to how well the benefits and technological developments of AI are observed by and communicated to the individual, while compatibility is referring to how compatible the AI technology and its usage is with an individual's values and beliefs. The theory is used to understand how well the individual will adapt to and accept new technological achievements of AI (Rogers, 2003).

The development of the wide usage areas of AI within different fields, has according to Rust (2020) evolved AI to become a key part of marketing. As marketing is changing with technological, geopolitical, and socioeconomic trends, the direction towards which the marketing is transforming is changing with it. Technological trends and developments increase the ability for firms to communicate with their consumers, but also increase their capability to store, collect and analyze consumer data (Rust, 2020). AI is used in marketing for various tasks like forecasting, evaluation and comparison of different marketing channels, and personalization of promotional messages (Kulkov, 2021). Artificial intelligence in marketing is a beneficial tool for extending the understanding of consumers and thereby being able to better target the consumers (Ma & Sun, 2020). Furthermore, AI can be used to generate more personalized content that can help improve the consumer relationship and engage the consumer more (Campbell et al., 2020). AI can be used for content creation and marketing communications, to intersect with consumers and improve forecasting (Vlačić et al., 2021). According to Dwivedi et al. (2021), the primary advantages of using AI for various tasks is to increase the market position and sales promotion. The importance of researching this is thereby crucial to understand the role of AI in marketing, but also the way it intersects with the consumers. Using AI in marketing content can increase the personalization of the promotional message with consumers to increase the brand-consumer bond (Dwivedi et al., 2021). The development of chatbots has been used to provide this intersection and opened the technological function that provides this intersection. ChatGTP has from its release in the end of 2022 become a symbol for AI chatbot, and their achievements. The new robot has developed and opened up further achievements within content creation for marketing messages (Philipp et al., 2023).

AI chatbots and technological advancements are becoming a more integrated part of our everyday life. In the same pace as internet is becoming a bigger part of the normal day to day life, so is our integration with e-commerce. Growing demand by consumers for online services and their advantages has increased the companies' engagement in e-commerce (Klaus & Changchit, 2019). During recent years, e-commerce has become a critical component of the global retail industry and consumers with internet access from all over the world can go online to shop from wherever they are (Gielens & Steenkamp, 2019). In 2021, global e-retail sales exceeded 5.2 trillion US dollars, and this figure is expected to continue to rise in the years to come. Sales have increased from 1.3 trillion US dollars and are projected to increase to more than 8 trillion by 2026 (Chevalier, 2022). Further on, it can be stated that

users with higher levels of experience using the Internet with previously made purchases through e-commerce platforms, are more inclined to engage in online shopping (Hernandez et al., 2010). A marketing tool that can increase interaction with consumers and provide an increase in sales for e-commerce is email marketing (Dawson & Kim, 2010). The use of email-marketing has therefore become crucial in the essence of e-commerce, and the use of AI in email marketing can help to deepen the consumer interaction. E-commerce is developing and changing through new technological trends like AI. but also, through consumers behaviors because of the changing landscapes. A crucial part for marketers to understand is their consumers behavior. While AI to some extent can help trace their digital footprint, the consumers' responding behavior is crucial to understand to improve the relationship with the consumers (Dwivedi et al., 2021).

The importance of investigating and researching consumer behavior lies in helping to understand how individuals make decisions depending on the resources available to them at the time. This is crucial for marketers to better target their consumers, with regard to their preferences, needs and resources (Nair, 2009). The dynamics between the consumer, business and society have changed because of the development of technology and the internet. Consumers nowadays interact more with the website and online community of the company instead of physical stores. The way consumers behave has changed because of the shift in the environment and their attitude and beliefs towards the changing environment (Koufaris, 2002).

The consumers' attitudes are, according to Ajzen (1991) in the theory of planned behavior, a key indicator forming their behavior as a result, where individuals' unique ways of behaving in relation to their attitudes influences their relation towards marketing. The theory of planned behavior provides an explanation of how individuals behave in a given situation, based on their individual personality traits and attitudes. The theory can be used when trying to identify the relationships between beliefs, intentions and attitudes in human social behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Continually, it can be stated that the theory of planned behavior suggests that an individual's intention to pursue a behavior is not completely controlled by their will, but rather a result of planning (Liu et al., 2020). The theory of planned behavior, and the actual behavior. The model is used in marketing and psychology to understand consumers intention to pursue a behavior in relation to their attitude, subjective norms and perceived behavioral

control (Mariani et al., 2022).

1.2 Problem

This section will provide an understanding of the importance in researching the consumers view and perception within the use of AI in marketing. The problem discussion will provide an insight on the current degree of research within the area and the importance to continuing to explore the relation of consumers adoption, attitude, and relation towards the use of AI in marketing. It will start with a discussion regarding AI and its standing in society, how it has been applied within different markets and role of it within marketing specifically. Continually, the role of AI will be discussed in relation to consumers in the changing market environment.

Artificial intelligence (AI) was in the past only used in data-based sciences, but developments within data and programming has made AI useful in more complex systems and markets (Leitao, 2013). Nowadays, artificial intelligence machines of different models and algorithms are integrated in numerous ways in consumers everyday life, within smart homes, cars, computers and online services (Kreutzer & Sirrenberg, 2020). This development of AI in numerous markets and functions is a result of the advancements in computer science, and the availability of big data. These accomplishments have influenced the development and the big role of AI within marketing communications. While AI is a scientific miracle, that provides an efficiency beyond human possibilities, the consumers attitudes towards AI within marketing is still a topic worthy of further investigation (Du & Xie, 2021). The changing environment to more technologically developed, has changed consumers behavior in their way to communicate and interact with businesses (Dwivedi et al., 2021). Due to the relevance of today's technological achievements and importance in the environment, the use of AI in communication is essential. Therefore, development of knowledge within this area is important. To the best of our knowledge, the research within AI-usage and its effect on consumer attitudes in the context of email marketing is limiting.

According to Mustak et al. (2021) there is a research gap within AI in marketing when it concerns consumers attitude towards it in relation to their purchasing intention. The subject is relevant and it is interesting to understand the implications of AI-usage regarding consumer relationships online (Mustak et al., 2021). Research shows that within information searching,

consumers' changing behavior can be related to the adoption of AI, while this connection cannot yet be stated within other fields of marketing (Mariani et al., 2022). The relevance of this study is therefore based in providing an understanding of the casual relationship and effect of consumer attitude towards on their purchase intention, in the context of email marketing, using theory of planned behavior (Ajzen, 1991) and the theory of diffusion of innovation (Rogers, 1962). This study will thereby contribute to knowledge regarding the relationship between the variables, that will provide new knowledge in the field of AI and marketing.

1.3 Purpose & research question

The purpose of this study is to discover the effect of consumer attitudes towards AI generated content within email marketing. This study will more specifically investigate the relation between the consumers' attitude, what factors it is affected by, and its resulting effect on purchase intention. This research seeks to explain the AI usage within marketing and provide managers with valuable insights regarding the effect of AI usage on consumers purchasing intention.

- What is the effect of consumers attitude towards AI-generated content in email marketing, on their purchase intention?

1.4 Delimitations

The report will not investigate the use of AI within other fields than the use of it within generating content in email marketing. This report will further on not explore the attitude towards AI in other fields than what has been established in the purpose. In addition, this study will not investigate the purchase intention within other fields than email marketing and the consumer electronics e-commerce context. Further on, no established brands will be investigated, only the fictious brand developed in this study. Additionally, this study will not explore the research question within other nationalities than Swedish. Lastly, this research will not examine the full range of factors that could potentially influence attitudes towards AI or purchasing intention, but instead focus specifically on compatibility and observability.

1.5 Definitions

Algorithm: An algorithm is a finite set of instructions, rules or steps that are followed by a computer program or machine, to solve problems or perform tasks (Blass & Gurevich, 2003).

Prompt: A prompt is a specific instruction or suggestion that is given to a user or computer program to guide a specific action or response (Liu & Chilton, 2021).

2. Frame of Reference

This chapter will provide a comprehensive overview of relevant theories and research for this study. The coming part introduces the use of AI within marketing and furthermore, the key construct of generative AI. This is followed by the role of trust towards the AI technology and the diffusion of innovation theory, which will serve as one of two theories for explaining the relationship between the technology and human beings in this study. Thereafter, the characteristics of attitude in general are presented, followed by the theory of planned behavior, providing a theoretical basis for the relationship between attitude and a given behavior. The last part of this chapter investigates purchase intention both in general and in relation to the theory of planned behavior. In addition to the theories, this chapter presents relevant research studies with the aim of developing hypotheses that will guide the data collection and analysis in this study. By drawing upon these theoretical frameworks and previous research studies, this chapter sets the foundation for the subsequent chapters.

2.1 AI in marketing

In the context of marketing, Artificial Intelligence is employed for multiple purposes, including predicting future trends, assessing and contrasting various marketing channels, and customizing promotional communications (Kulkov, 2021). AI can automate the business process, provide insights based on past data, and generate consumer and market insights through the program-based algorithm (Davenport et al., 2019). The technology can serve various functions throughout the marketing process. In the first stage of the process, AI can be used to assist with data collection and market analysis. Further on, in the second stage, AI can

be applied within the process of segmentation, targeting, and positioning. In the third stage, AI can help with standardization, personalization, and relationship building (Huang & Rust, 2020). If supervised and instructed correctly, AI can perform specific marketing tasks more efficiently than humans. For example, consumer service chatbots that utilize AI technology, are able to either assist or replace human workers (Sheehan et al., 2020). Such improvements lead to enhanced effectiveness, reduced costs, and a higher return on investment. Furthermore, AI can conduct tactical data analysis quickly and use machine learning to make decisions based on campaign and consumer context. This allows the marketing team to allocate time for development of strategic initiatives, which can then inform AI-powered marketing efforts (Haleem et al., 2022).

In the digital context, marketing utilizes data, information, and communication technologies such as artificial intelligence as well as platforms like social networks, media, and search engines to expand marketing efforts. Its primary objective is to enhance consumer relationships through the provision of information, influence, empowerment, and engagement to consumers (Krishen et al., 2021). As technology advances, digital marketing is becoming more sophisticated and targeted, thanks to the use of artificial intelligence (Davenport et al., 2019). AI-technology can be used for advertisement optimization, lead generation, consumer support and content creation (Sarath Kumar Boddu et al., 2022). For example, chatbots used in costumer support being able to successfully solve requests and provide relevant information were found to have a positive influence on costumer experience (Nicolescu & Tudorache, 2022). Another example of artificial intelligence usage in digital marketing is recommendation systems within e-commerce. Through analyzing and interpreting data, the algorithms can create more personalized user recommendations through flexible adaptation, thus enhancing the quality (Bawack et al., 2022).

2.1.2 Generative AI

Generative AI utilizes a large corpus of data, including text, images, or other types of data, to create new variations of content in response to user demands (Euchner, 2023). According to Dwivedi et al. (2023b), the technological advancement of generative AI is that it can generate responses beyond its explicit programming. It can be defined as a technology which uses deep learning models to produce human-like content in response to a variety of prompts (Lim et al., 2023). Considered as an umbrella technology, generative AI is another step towards the

attainment of artificial general intelligence, enabling the technology to comprehend and learn any intellectual tasks like humans do. Today, generative AI is already capable of producing content such as text, images, programming codes, and even poetry. However, by its nature, generative AI is constrained to creating content by combining existing information (Dwivedi et al., 2023b).

Several studies have explored the public reactions and attitudes towards generative AI. A study by Wu et al. (2020) found that consumers in America perceived human generated poems and paintings more favorably when compared to AI generated ones, both implicitly and explicitly. This was in turn compared to results from the Chinese population, where results showed that AI-generated content was viewed more positively explicitly, but the implicit cues still indicated preference for human generated content (Wu et al., 2020). Individuals have a tendency to endorse explicit self-evaluations that are consistent with their cultural context at the present time, while their unconscious, implicit self-evaluations reflect their long-term interpretations and beliefs (Hetts et al., 1999). This phenomenon is called the bandwagon effect, which can be defined as the tendency of people to conform to the opinion of the majority, even if it contradicts their own viewpoints and beliefs (Bindra et al., 2022).

In the research conducted by Persson et al. (2021) between Swedish and Japanese population found that familiarity with AI-technology has a positive effect on attitude towards the technology. In addition, worry of artificial intelligence leading to loss of jobs was also found to correlate with a more negative attitude. Additionally, research conducted by Horowitz & Kahn (2021) revealed a positive relationship between self-reported familiarity with AI and approval of AI uses in a variety of areas, such as facial recognition, planning and surveillance, among local government officials in the United States. Familiarity was also suggested as a factor affecting the populations explicit attitude towards artificial intelligence in a study done by Wu et al. (2020), where the authors suggest that prevalence of artificial technology in the society and its promotion by the government may influence explicit attitude among the population.

2.2 Factors affecting attitude towards AI

There are numerous factors that have been shown to affect people's perceptions and attitude towards artificial intelligence technology, such as tech skepticism (O'Shaughnessy et al., 2022), trust (Shin & Park, 2019), and perceived credibility (Cukurova et al., 2020; Waddell, 2018). While these factors will not be measured as a part of this study, due to the effects already being proven by previous research, they are still included in the literature review section since their effects can help explain the results of this research.

Message credibility can be reflected by how accurate, authentic and believable a message is perceived by the reader (Appelman & Sundar, 2016). In connection to artificial intelligence, credibility pertains to the reputation of the algorithms and their ability to be believed (Shin, 2022). Trust, in turn, refers to the level of confidence and faith users have in algorithms to carry out actions that are advantageous to them (Shin & Park, 2019). Factors such as fairness, accountability, transparency and interpretability have been found to have an effect on perceived usefulness and trustworthiness of AI personalization in the form of algorithmic recommendations (Shin, 2020). Previous research discovered that users who do not view the information provided by a chatbot as credible are less likely to follow its recommendations (Shin & Park, 2019). On the other hand, users with a high level of trust were found to attribute a higher level of credibility to chatbots (Shin, 2022). Additionally, previous studies have found that educational research evidence was found as less credible when framed as research within the field of Artificial intelligence, when compared to neuroscience and education psychology (Cukurova et al., 2020). Another example is that news articles written by artificial intelligence were found to be perceived as less credible than the ones attributed to a human journalist (Waddell, 2018).

Previous research has shown skepticism to be negatively and significantly associated with people's perceptions and attitudes. Skepticism refers to the inclination of an individual to question and have reservations about different subjects (Obermiller & Spangenberg, 1998). In the media context, it has been observed that skepticism had a substantial and negative correlation with consistent approval of the media's predictions concerning election outcomes. (Tsfati, 2003). Furthermore, skepticism towards Corporate social responsibility (CSR) was

15

found to be associated with a negative attitude towards brands, with companies being viewed as not fully honest about their intentions with their CSR initiatives (Kwon & Ahn, 2021). In the context of advertising, skepticism was found to be correlated with less trust, lower perceived influence and a more negative attitude towards the advertisements (Obermiller et al., 2005). Additionally, technological skepticism has in previous research been found to be a strong predictor of attitudes toward Artificial intelligence technology, with higher levels tending to predict reduced support for AI use (O'Shaughnessy et al., 2022).

2.3 Diffusion of innovation

The Diffusion of Innovations theory was first introduced by Rogers in 1962 to explain the human adoption towards new technological developments in the agricultural context. Where each individual adopt to technological developments differently, depending on their social values and characteristics but also their communications behavior in the context of their own social system (Rogers, 1962). According to the theory, innovations is defined as object, idea or practice perceived by each individual, while diffusion is defined as the process of communicating the innovation in the social system (Ali et al., 2019). Further on, the diffusion of innovation theory seeks to explain how, why, and at what rate new ideas and technologies spread through society (Rogers, 2003). The theory has been applied in a wide range of contexts of innovations, including healthcare (Afraz et al., 2021), marketing (Lee et al., 2021), social media (Long et al., 2014), and education (Menzli et al., 2022). The theory proposes that the adoption of new technologies is influenced by five factors; including the characteristics of the innovation itself, the channels used to communicate the innovation, the social system in which the innovation is introduced, the degree of compatibility of the innovation with values and needs of the adopters and finally the time aspect. This suggests that the theory of diffusion of innovations provides an explanation of how innovations are communicated in different channels to the members of a social system (Rogers, 2003). Further on, social system in this context is defined as the social constructs an individual belongs to. One can belong to specific parts of the systems so called social subsystems (Lundberg et al., 2019). The position that the individual obtains in the social system refers to their experiences, action, values and social forces that impact an individual (Pieters, 2017). In this study, two elements in the diffusion of innovation theory are found relevant. Compatibility, which refers to how compatible an innovation is with the individuals' beliefs and worldview, and observability, as in how visible and observable an innovation and its benefits are to the individual.

16

2.3.1 Observability

Min et al. (2019) used the diffusion of innovation theory to analyze the impact of its different aspects on perceived usefulness and ease of use of the Uber app. In addition to the theory's traditional components, the authors introduced a "social influence" aspect to assess the extent to which members of a reference group affect one another's behavior. People's ability and decision to adopt to new technology is influenced by their social context (Salancik & Pfeffer, 1978). Further on, observability has been defined by Rogers (2003) as a part of social influence, and is described as the extent of visibility of the innovation and the degree to which members of a social system can observe and communicate the benefits of it. Moreover, Park and Chen (2007) found that high degree of observability has a positive effect on user attitudes towards innovations. Similarly, Lee et al. (2021) identified observability as a significant factor influencing attitudes towards leisure agriculture digital marketing efforts. Another study demonstrated a positive correlation between self-perception of knowledge about AI and optimism towards the technology using theory of diffusion of innovation (Lund et al., 2020). In contrast, recent studies have also shown the observability attribute not having a significant effect on attitude. For example, a study has found that observability could not be used to predict attitude towards usage of virtual reality (Al Breiki et al., 2022). Similarly, a study found that observability did not significantly influence attitudes towards sustainable transportation. (Ahn & Park, 2022).

The first hypothesis in this paper is based on the concept of observability, a factor in diffusion of innovation theory, that is defined as the degree of visibility and ability for individuals in a social system to communicate the benefits of an innovation (Rogers, 2003). While the evidence on Observability influencing attitude is mixed, much of previous research has shown observability having a significant and positive effect on attitude towards innovations. With the help of literature and previous research presented above, the first hypothesis is formulated as following:

H1: High degree of Observability in AI technology has a positive effect on the individuals' attitudes towards AI generated content in marketing.

2.3.2 Compatibility

Compatibility in the theory of diffusion of innovation refers to how well a new idea, product or technology aligns with existing social values, beliefs, experiences and needs of potential users. The more compatible an innovation is, the more likely it is to be accepted by potential users, as it reduces uncertainty. There is also a direct relationship between compatibility and the rate of adoption, as people are more willing to adopt innovations that are perceived to be compatible with their own social system (Rogers, 2003). According to Nordhoff at al. (2021), compatibility is expected to have a positive relationship towards behavioral intention, indicating that the innovation in question is in line with the individuals values, needs and experiences in the social system of the individual. Previously, researchers have found that a high degree of compatibility has a significant and positive effect on attitudes toward adopting and using technologies. For example, compatibility was found to significantly influence attitude, which in turn was found to lead to behavioral intention of adoption and continuation of usage of mobile banking (Lin, 2011). In a study done by Ahn & Park (2022), compatibility was found to influence perceived usefulness, which in turn was found to have an effect on attitude in the context of sustainable transportation. Similarly, compatibility was found to have a statistically significant effect on attitude towards anti-spyware adoption (Lee & Kozar, 2008). There are also instances where the compatibility factor of diffusion of innovation theory was found not to have a significant effect on attitude. For example, compatibility has previously been found to have an insignificant effect on attitude in the context of information technology usage (Taylor & Todd, 1995).

While existing literature on diffusion of innovation theory showcases mixed results regarding the effect that compatibility may have on attitude, much of previous research has found the relationship to be positive and statistically significant. The second hypothesis is based on the compatibility concept in the diffusion of innovation theory. Compatibility refers to how well the innovation aligns with the individuals' social values, experiences, beliefs, and needs. The degree of compatibility indicates how well the innovation is received by the individual (Rogers, 2003). With the help of previous research presented above, the second hypothesis is developed:

H2: High degree of Compatibility in AI technology has a positive effect on the individuals' attitude towards AI generated content in marketing.

2.4 Attitude

2.4.1 Attitude Definition

Attitude is, according to Bohner (2002) considered a central part of the human individuality, that is defined by Spears and Singh (2004) as a summary of a single individuals' evaluations. Continually, Cooper et al. (2010) states that attitude influences our perceptions and provides guidance in the human behavior. Further on, our attitudes are formed by social experiences that are mentally represented, and give rise to a specific behavioral outcome (Cooper et al., 2010). The individuals' attitude represents their evaluative response towards a specific objective, where a single attitude can give rise and encompass behavioral, cognitive and affective responses (Bohner & Wanke, 2002). Additionally, the stability of information provides a rise in attitudes, which can increase the correlation between attitude and behavior. Thereby, the initial information guiding an attitude is highly relevant in the essence of the behavioral outcome of the attitude (Glasman & Albarracín, 2006). Attitude can finally be defined as an individualistic and intrapsychic concept of characteristics that only appears to the individual self, according to Cooper et al. (2010).

Within social psychological casual relationships, values can according to Boer and Fischer (2013) help predict attitudes and behaviors, higher level of cognitive presentation in human behaviors and lastly, life orientations. Further on, values are a basic motivation guiding the actions and evaluations within both social attitudes and behaviors. In addition, social attitudes are connected by individuals' values, which are formed by their moral and social relations within the specific cultural and social context. Continually, according to Roos and Hahn (2017) the concept of values is a relatively stable factor of distal behavior that develops slowly during a long period of time, mediated by factors of proximal behavior of personal norms and beliefs regarding responsibility and consequences. The role of consumer attitudes is defined by Hansen (2008) as a mediate link between consumer behavior. This in turn indicates that the relationship between the concepts is hierarchical with values at the lowest level, attitude at the middle level and behavior at the top, indicating the way from forming to performing the outcome.

2.4.2 Consumer Attitudes

Consumers attitudes can be defined to be either positive, negative, or neutral regarding a specific object, formed by experiences and the perceived use of it. Attitudes are viewed as consumers preferences or identification in regard of the object in relation to other alternatives (Amoroso & Lim, 2017). Consumers are, according to Rajagopal (2022), part of different groups that share experiences in products, innovations, values, and views on societal development. Thereby, the collective attitude of a consumer group can influence purchases and the view of society in relation to meeting their needs (Rajagopal, 2022).

The personality traits of the brand associated with the product plays a central role in regards to consumers attitude and thereafter also their behavior towards the brand in the given context (Shobeiri et al., 2015). Marketers are expected to understand that individuals attitudes can impact their purchasing behavior (Cooper et al., 2010). Therefore, assessing and understanding consumer attitudes can provide an extended point of view into consumers intonation, in regards to better help predict the consumers' behavior (Boostrom et al., 2013).

Technological advancements influence consumers complex behavior and their relation to the company, resulting in a more complex relationship that is difficult to measure. Trends in consumer behavior towards communication and information technology are shaped by their adoption, diffusion and application, but also by attitudes and beliefs (Shareef et al., 2016). Within email-marketing, the consumer attitude is considered to be based on content, similar to a website. This is only valid under the circumstance that the consumer agreed upon receiving an email in the email-marketing campaign (Cases et al., 2010). Further on, trust is one of the main factors influencing consumers attitude in the online environment, and moreover, trust can also impact the attitude in a way that influences the consumers purchase intention (Elliott & Speck, 2005). Attitudes within e-mail marketing are, according to Hsin Chang et al. (2013), linked to beliefs about the consequence of providing permission to receive the email marketing, indicating that the attitude towards the email can be both negative and positive. The degree of attitude and the tone of it can change when the individual receives the message, depending on whether their beliefs and values are aligned with the email message (Hsin Chang et al., 2013).

2.4.3 Attitudes Towards a Given Behavior

According to Akroush and Al-Debei (2015), an individual can have attitudes towards a specific object or a specific behavior. The later one can be defined as individuals' attitude towards engaging in a given behavior, but also their attitude towards the intention to perform the given behavior. When the individuals' attitude towards the given behavior is favorable, this indicates a positive evaluation to performing the action. In contrast, one can also have an unfavorable attitude, indicating a negative evaluation of the action and thereby not being likely to perform it (Akroush & Al-Debei, 2015). The role of attitudes in a behavioral context is a key subject in Ajzen (1991) study of theory of planned behavior. The effects of personal and external factors on attitudes towards a behavior can be either positive or negative. Further on, the behavioral outcome is based on the individuals' personal potential benefits and consequences associated with the behavior. One is not likely to pursue a given behavior, if the consequence of the behavior is considered unfavorable for the individual (Ajzen, 1991). Consumers attitudes and their emotions toward a purchase-related action form their behavior to some extent, together with their beliefs and values. Positive attitudes can impact the purchasing intention positively while a negative attitude can have a negative impact on their purchasing intention (Smith et al., 2008). The following part of this chapter will go into more depth of the theory of planned behavior regarding attitude and behavior, followed by the specific behavior of purchase intention.

2.5 Theory of planned behavior

The theory of planned behavior is based within the social psychology field and aims to explain an individual's behavior in relation to attitude and personality traits (Ajzen, 1991). According to Ajzen (2011), it has been developed to be one of the most commonly used social psychology theories. It is used to predict human behavior within different departments like business, medical sciences, management and accounting (Ajzen, 2011). The theory founded by Ajzen (1991), builds on the single individuals' intention to perform a given behavior, regarding the level of willingness to pursue the action in relation to their effort to fulfill the behavior. Further on, the author states that individuals themselves only have the control to decide whether to perform the given behavior or not, in relation to their opportunities and resources to complete it. The capacity to pursue the given behavior depends on one's

motivation, indicating the intention, and the ability for the behavioral control (Ajzen, 1991). Further on, Bosnjak et al. (2020) states three types of considerations guiding human behavior according to the theory of planned behavior; first one being the behavioral beliefs referring to the beliefs of likely consequences of the given behavior, secondly the normative believes regards the normative expectations of the common public, and lastly the control beliefs about the presence of factors that may impact the performance. With regards to this it can be established that behavioral beliefs help produce both favorable and unfavorable attitudes, while normative beliefs influence the subjective norm and control beliefs, that can provide a rise in perceived behavioral control (Bosnjak et al., 2020).

Attitude, according to Ajzen (1991), concerns whether individuals have a favorable or unfavorable appraisal of the given behavior, while the second factor of subjective norms refers to the individuals perceived social pressure on whether to pursue the behavior. The last factor refers to the perceived behavioral control, which indicates one's perceived difficulty to the given behavior. Further on, a key factor in the theory of planned behavior is the role of behavioral beliefs which is defined to be the individuals inner beliefs regarding the consequences of preforming a given behavior that influence their attitude (Ajzen, 1991).

According to Prodanova et al. (2021), the elements of attitudes which are subjective norms and perceived control, are considered to have a positive effect on an individual's behavioral intentions and their actual behavior. Further on, Buchan (2005) states that favorable attitudes and positive social norms towards the behavior, can be insufficient to impacting one's perception of incomplete control. While Bosnjak et al. (2020) decompiles this to some extent, by indicating that the effect of attitude and subjective norm are moderated by perception of behavioral control, suggesting that a rise in the two elements provides a stronger perceived control. Lastly, Lim and An (2021) state that individuals are prone to perform in a specific way, if they believe that the behavior will generate an outcome in line with their values.

Furthermore, a study by George (2004) on purchase intention within the theory of planned behavior clarifies a direct link between perceived behavioral control and achievement, regarding the individual's intention to purchase. The same study states the usefulness of the theory concerning consumers purchase intention in the online environment, in relation to their own personal beliefs, norms and values (George, 2004). Hansen (2008) adopted the theory of planned behavior in the context of online shopping behavior, through investigating the role of consumers values, attitudes, and behavior in relation to their grocery shopping online. This to further understand consumers behavior in a purchasing environment online, and what factors that influence their behavior (Hansen, 2008).

2.6 Purchase intention

Vuong and Khanh Giao (2020) state that the role of purchase intention in marketing is assisting to understand consumer behavior. Purchase intention has become a key part in consumer behavior for the vendor to understand their consumers in their unique purchasing behavior (Chen et al., 2010). The concept of purchase intention is complicated in its process, according to Vuong and Khanh Giao (2020), since it is considered being connected to the individuals' attitudes, behavior and perceptions. The individuals' attitude and perceptions they have towards the product in question can influence their degree to which they are willing to fulfill the purchase in the future. Marketers believe that a positive attitude and perception towards the product result in a higher chance for the consumer to plan a purchase and thereby also a higher chance of an actual purchase.

The perceived values the individuals obtain can be founded independently of participation in the transaction, while purchase intention is formed under the construct that there is a pending transaction, that can impact the outcome of an actual purchase (Chang & Wildt, 1994). Referring to Murat (2021), the individuals' identity and lifestyle choices affects their own consumer purchasing behavior in regard to perceived product values and perceived brand values. The study by Spears and Singh (2004) compliments the definition of purchase intention by addressing the value of brand in relation to the individuals' plan to pursue the purchase. Spears and Singh (2004) strengthen the degree of which attitude and behavior correlates in the individuals purchase intention. The individuals' attitudes form the behavior which is predicted and to some extent formed by their specific purchasing intention (Spears & Singh, 2004). Further on, according to Wu (2003), it can be stated that consumers purchasing decisions are strongly influenced by their social, psychological, cultural and personal traits, which are factors that can be considered difficult for markets to impact. Whilst the external factors that influence the behavior consists of demographics, situational, technological, social, and economic ones, where everyone has their own unique blend. The same can be stated by the internal factors that influence consumer behavior, indicated to be beliefs, learning,

motives, attitudes, personality, needs, values, and perception. Lifestyle is considered to be somewhere in between the external and internal factors, where both parties influence the consumers' behavior in regards to purchasing intention (Wu, 2003).

Personal attitudes towards a specific objective can influence an individual's behavior (Cooper et al., 2010). Consumers can obtain positive attitudes towards an objective or towards a specific behavior. The importance and role of attitude in regard to future behavior is explained in the theory of planned behavior by Ajzen (1991), where attitude is a key factor influencing the intention to pursue a given behavior. In a consumer context, a positive attitude can give rise and influence the degree of purchase intention for the consumer in regards to the objective in a given situation during a specific context (George, 2004). The third hypothesis of this study is based on how purchasing intention is influences by attitude, which in turn is affected by the first two hypotheses.

H3: Positive attitudes towards AI generated content in marketing has a favorable effect on consumers purchase intention.

3. Conceptual framework

The model below shows the relation between the different hypotheses.

Figure 1

Hypotheses



H1: High degree of Observability in AI technology has a positive effect on the individuals' attitudes towards AI. H2: High degree of Compatibility in AI technology has a positive effect on the individuals' attitude towards AI. H3: Positive attitudes towards AI generated content has a favorable effect on consumers purchase intention.

4. Method

The following section provides a comprehensive overview of the research methodology employed in this research paper, covering the research philosophy and approach, survey design, data collection procedures, and analysis techniques. The method section begins with an explanation on the research philosophy and approach, outlining the underlying assumptions and principles that have guided the research process. Next, the design process of the survey is described in detail. This part highlights the structure of the survey, explains the question types, and provides rationale for item selection. The data collection process is then described, including the methods employed to gather responses, the timeframe of data collection, measures taken to ensure quality and ethical considerations. Lastly, the approach for data analysis is clarified, shedding light on the statistical procedures and instruments used to process the data and extract findings.

4.1 Research Philosophy

The researchers of this study as well as in prior studies are guided by their philosophical view in research. The individuals assumptions implies a specific reasoning formed by one's beliefs, impacting the philosophical standing in ideas and truth (Žukauskas, 2018). The selected paradigm in this study is based on the way that one looks at the positions of theories and explanations provided by theories. Choosing the most applicable paradigm to investigate the phenomena in the study, is essential to analyze the phenomena in a credible and trustful way (Kankam, 2019).

Each unique study is formed by different assumptions as already stated, that together form research paradigms. The paradigm in this case is built on the epistemology approach that is grounded in general assumptions and parameters that are connected with excellent standing to explore the nature of the world. Further on, each philosophical paradigm is coordinated with a specific way to view the world, in this case this is the positivistic approach. The philosophical standing in accordance to the positivistic approach in this research implies an objective way to view the world and the research conducted, by distancing the researchers personal values and beliefs about the subject that has been investigated (Žukauskas, 2018). Further on, the focus within the applied approach has been to obtain objective results through hypothesis testing

and empirical evidence. Fundamental laws and the casual relationships are the main characteristics of the positivistic approach in this study (Goles & Hirschheim, 2000). The hypothesis and relationships that have been established in this study are according to the positivistic approach derived from theories and the developed framework, that have been tested with empirical evidence based on large data sets from the primary data collection. Where the objective truth in regards to the hypothesis and the evidence is the main interest for the researchers (Della Porta & Keating, 2008).

In addition to the epistemology standing defined as the acceptable knowledge of this study, based on general assumptions that have been tested in a way that provides credible data and facts, in an empirical manner, the ontological standing, defined as the nature of reality within the positivistic approach of this study, indicates that the nature of the research is external of the personal values and obtains an objective standing that has been distanced from the researchers' personal view of the reality. Further on, the ontology characteristics of this study are independent of social factors that can implicate the objective standing (Mukhles, 2020). The research approach associated with this philosophical standing will further on be discussed in the next part regarding the research approach.

4.2 Research approach

This study is conducted using a quantitative research strategy to help explore the relationships and fundamental grounds of the consumers attitudes towards artificial intelligence in marketing regarding purchasing intention. The hypothesis developed in the conceptual framework is based on the theories diffusion of innovation and the theory of planned behavior. Further on, quantitative research has been established to be a controlled way to test the hypothesis in a credible manner that is easy to verify in accordance to the philosophical standing (Della Porta & Keating, 2008). The paradigm belonging to quantitative research design is the quantitative paradigm, through an objective approach seeking to understand the causes and facts of social phenomena. Further on, the quantitative paradigm empathizes on the reliability of the data and the resulting outcome (Goles & Hirschheim, 2000).

The structure of this study has followed a strict order in accordance with a deductive approach, where the theories of diffusion of innovation and theory of planned behavior were

first introduced and explained based on their fitness with the subject researched. The theories introduced was applied to find a possible explanation to the research question. Based on the research question and the theories, multiple hypotheses where developed, which are used to investigate the relationships between the concepts (Della Porta & Keating, 2008). While this is a structured process that is typically defined as deductive, the theories applied in this deductive research are applied from both a social science approach (theory of planned behavior) and a more technological approach (theory of diffusion of innovation). Further on, the more common view characterizing deductive research is the process main aim of moving from a more general view to a more specific outcome. The steps of moving from general to particular is the main characteristic in a deductive approach. In this study and the process described earlier, theory is applied to a unique case to obtain results (Woiceshyn & Daellenbach, 2018).

4.3 Research Strategy

4.3.1 Survey design

In order to investigate consumers' attitudes towards Artificial Intelligence and their online purchasing intentions, a web-based survey was created using Qualtrics. The survey was designed using a multi-item approach. To enhance the validity and reliability, multiple items were used to measure each construct. Items for the variables were adapted from existing literature. There are three types of questionnaires used for data collection, including dichotomous (yes/no questions), questions based on levels of measurement (nominal, ordinal, interval, and ratio), and filter or contingency questions (asked only if the respondent provides a specific answer to a previous question) (Trochim & Donnelly, 2007). The survey employed in this study can be considered a combination of all these types. All the variables were measured using a 7-point Likert scale. A total of 20 questions were included in the final version of the survey, including 9 items measuring observability, compatibility, attitude and purchasing intention, 7 questions regarding GDPR, demographics and contact information about the participants, 1 attention-check question and 3 questions connected to the presentation of the promotional message in both parts of the survey.

The first part of the self-reported questionnaire was developed having questions divided into five segments. The first segment consisted of a general description of the study and

information about GDPR and how the data collected as a part of this research will be used. The second segment collected information about the participants in terms of their age, gender, and E-mail address. The first measurement-section of the survey was dedicated to measuring Observability. The construct was based on the questionnaire by Moore & Benbasat (1991) and relevant items were selected and adapted to fit the context of this study. In the original questionnaire, the concept of observability is divided into "visibility" and "result demonstrability", with the latter presuming that the participant is also the user of the technology. Since it is not necessarily the case in this study, the items were selected from the "visibility" part of the scale. The result is a four-item construct with a bipolar seven-point Likert-scale ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". The following segment of the survey measured Compatibility. The construct was built based on the same questionnaire as with Observability and consisted of three items that were adjusted to fit with the study. Lastly, the participants were asked to self-evaluate their attitude towards AI-technology, which marked the end of the first part of the survey.

The second part of the survey consisted of two segments, a general information segment and a segment for measurement of purchasing intention. The participants were randomly assigned a promotional message generated using the ChatGPT 4.0 language model, with the prompt describing the name of the fictitious company, the product and that the text will be used in E-mail marketing (see figure 3). The description said that it is either authored by a human, or by an AI-robot, depending on which group the participant got assigned to. The time span between the two surveys varied between six to eleven days depending on when the first survey was answered. The participants received the invitation to the second part of the survey by email.

It is recommended to use validated instruments and translate them into the local language in order to ensure reliable data (Abu-Shanab & Nor, 2013). All the constructs and items used in this study were translated into Swedish to increase likelihood of participation and ensure that all participants are comfortable with the language and can easily understand and respond to the questions.

Figure 2

Construct	Items	Source
Observability	• I feel that many people around me believe that AI	Moore &
	is used in marketing	Benbasat
	• I have seen AI used in marketing on many	(1991)
	occasions	
	• I feel that AI in marketing is used to a large extent	
	in my environment	
	• To my knowledge, AI is not widely applied in	
	marketing	
Compatibility	Using AI in marketing goes against my values	Moore &
	• Using AI in marketing does not fit into the way I	Benbasat
	view the world	(1991)
	• I don't think AI should be used for marketing	
	purposes	

Constructs and items of the questionnaire

4.3.2 Ensuring quality of the collected data

In order to avoid the consistency effect caused by the order of the questions, the survey was divided into two parts, with participants receiving the second part of the survey five days after they filled out the first. In this case, the risk was identified between the question measuring the participants' attitude towards AI and the question about their purchasing intention towards the product presented in the survey. To stay consistent, a participant might be compelled to report a higher level of purchasing intention, if he/she reported a positive attitude towards artificial intelligence in the previous question. This effect can occur due to participants feeling the need to be, or at least to appear, consistent in their answers (Schuman & Presser, 1996). Moreover, a validation question was used in the survey. An instructed response item was used to ensure that the participants pay attention to the questions. An instructed response item where the participant is instructed on how to answer. It is a tool used to ensure high response quality (Meade & Craig, 2012). Instructed response items are effective in identifying straightlining, speeding, item nonresponse, inconsistent answers, and implausible statements

(Gummer et al., 2021). The participants of this survey were asked to answer "Yes" if they read the item.

4.3.3 Fictitious brand

A fictitious personal electronics brand, INNOCELL, was created as part of the research process. Fictitious brands are used in research to prevent any brand-related associations that might influence participants' assessments due to prior interactions with actual brands (Paydas Turan, 2021). The decision to create a fictitious brand was made to eliminate any preconceptions participants may have had about a real brand, as well as to avoid potential ethical issues associated with using an existing brand. INNOCELL was designed to sell mobile phones directly to consumers through e-commerce. The personal electronics industry was selected because it is gender-neutral and appeals to a broad demographic in Sweden, since it is reported that 98% of the population use mobile phones and that the percentage does not differ between men and women (PTS, 2019). The promotional message included information about the option to order the mobile phones online. This detail was incorporated to prevent the exclusion or alteration of responses from participants who may not reside near a physical store location, ensuring a more representative and unbiased sample for the study. This is particularly relevant for consumers in Sweden, since over 70% of people between 18 and 85 reported that they shop online (SCB, 2021).

4.3.4 Promotional message

The text presented in the survey was generated by Open AI's ChatGPT-4 language model and its purpose was to serve as content for email marketing for the fictitious company. The promotional message generated by ChatGPT can be seen in Figure 3. A description of the brand was provided to ChatGPT as a prompt in Swedish and it was tasked to create content for email marketing based on it. The output was translated to English and back-translated to Swedish by a bilingual person, before being included in this paper. The original text was then compared to the back-translated text to check for similarity. Back-translation was employed in order to assure the reader that the translation is correct (Maneesriwongul & Dixon, 2004).

Figure 3

Promotional message generated by ChatGPT

Hi!

We are proud to introduce INNOCELL ONE[™], our groundbreaking and affordable mobile phone for the conscious consumer. INNOCELL[™] is a Swedish startup company, founded by ambitious students from Jönköping International Business School. Our goal is to revolutionize the mobile phone industry by offering high-quality mid-range mobile phones at affordable prices, with a strong focus on sustainability and innovation.

INNOCELL ONE[™] combines elegant design with function and style. Choose from five eye-catching colors - black, white, grey, cyan and red - to find the perfect device that matches your personal style and preferences. With our own e-commerce platform, it's easy to buy and have your new INNOCELL ONE[™] delivered straight to your door.

But it's not just design and affordability that make INNOCELL ONE[™] unique. We are deeply committed to protecting the environment and our planet. By using environmentally friendly materials and green manufacturing processes, we minimize our carbon footprint and create a more sustainable product. When you buy an INNOCELL ONE[™], you can feel satisfied that you are supporting a brand that values both the planet and its people.

Do not hesitate to explore our e-commerce platform and discover INNOCELL ONE[™], the mobile phone that combines quality, style and environmental concern in a unique way. Make a smart investment for both you and the planet - become part of the INNOCELL[™] family today!

Sincerely, The INNOCELL[™] Team

The use of large generative artificial intelligence models (LGAIMs), refers to algorithms that generate new data which resembles human-generated content, including audio, code, images, text, simulations, and videos. An example of this is ChatGPT, which is a chatbot developed by the company OpenAI. It is based on a family of large language models and has been refined using both supervised and reinforcement learning methods (Philipp et al., 2023)

Email as a communication tool is more time effective and accessible for both the marketer and the consumer (Chittenden & Rettie, 2003). Email marketing is further on used by companies to connect, provide and receive valuable costumer information that helps companies identify their consumers' needs better (Coussement & Van den Poel, 2009). Marketers use email-marketing in different ways depending on the consumer, where push emails are sent out to multiple consumers to achieve a specific objective. The other type of email marketing is automated emails, that are triggered to specific actions or events by the consumer (Hannah et al., 2016). Email-marketing is a common communication tool for ecommerce, where the interaction between the consumer and the company is limited. Moreover is email marketing beneficial for the company to help improve and deepen the consumer relationship, because it is considered more personal (Reimers et al., 2016). Further on, research also shows that e-mail marketing interaction with consumers can help increase sales for e-commerce businesses (Dawson & Kim, 2010).

4.4 Data collection

4.4.1 Sampling technique

Due to access, time and financial constraints, a non-probability sampling strategy was applied in this study, which means that the probability of any member of the population being included in the sample is unknown (Saunders et al., 2016). Convenience sampling was used, meaning that the sample is selected based on how easy it is to gain access to the potential participants. This sampling method decreases the probability of data to be representative of the population (Gillham, 2007).

The web-based questionnaire was distributed first by sharing the link on Facebook and through email. There are advantages to using web-based surveys which, considering the time and economic limitations of this study, outweigh the disadvantages. These include for example low cost, both in terms of time and money and quick access to bigger samples (Gillham, 2007). On the other hand, acquiring responses through posts on social media may lead to sample bias and over-representation of a particular viewpoint if, for example, participants invite their peers with similar interests to the survey (Ball, 2019). To combat that, the survey was shared in social media groups disconnected from the research topic. For instance, groups providing general information and news about the participants' local areas.

The answers for the first part of the survey were collected between the 24th and 30th of March, and the answers for the second part between 5th and 11th of April. The distribution strategy consisted of posting the survey in various Facebook-groups and collecting participants' email addresses to send the second part of the survey. To avoid making the sample too homogenous, the groups in which the survey was promoted were selected based

on factors that are unrelated to the topic of this research. For example, groups with general information and news about the local area where the participants live, were used in multiple instances. This was done to capture the widest range of perspectives possible. In addition, the survey was sent to friends and acquaintances of the researchers.

A total of 114 participants successfully completed the first part of the survey. The age distribution of these participants was as follows: 28 participants were aged between 18 and 30 years, 16 were between 31 and 43 years, 27 were between 44 and 56 years, 6 were between 57 and 59 years, 27 were between 60 and 72 years, and 10 were above 73 years. Regarding gender identification, one participant identified as non-binary, 47 as women, 65 as men, and one as "other." The choice of not focusing on a particular age group was made to capture the widest range of perspectives possible.

Out of 324 individuals who initially started the survey, 210 were removed from the analysis due to incomplete responses, failure to provide valid email address, failure to pass the validation question, or not accepting the GDPR-terms. This concludes to 114 respondents that were accounted for in the statistical analysis of the first part of the survey in this study. In the second part of the survey, 109 participants completed the survey; however, 38 of them were removed from the analysis as they either did not finish the first part or provided an incorrect email address in the first part and did not receive the invite for the second. Consequently, a total of 71 participants completed both parts of the survey and were included in the analysis for the second part of the survey. It is recommended that at least 15 completions are collected for every independent variable in the questionnaire (Stevens, 1996). In the case of this study, there are 2 independent variables in the first part of the survey, and one in the second. That means that at least 45 completions are required, which was fulfilled. The first questionnaire did receive feedback from people that did the survey through the link published on the social media app Instagram that had problems with Instagram's web browser where they tried to complete the survey, this could be the reason for some of the respondents that did not complete the survey.

4.4.2 Primary data

In this research, the survey strategy is employed. It is commonly used for exploratory and descriptive research and is usually associated with a deductive research approach. This

strategy is prevalent in business and management research and is often utilized to examine the thoughts or behaviors of a population concerning a specific issue (Saunders et al., 2016). As this study is quantitative, deductive, and falls within the scope of business research, the use of this approach is deemed appropriate. The quantitative method used in this study in the second part of the questionnaire is of experimental design, to test the variables and the relationship between attitude towards AI in marketing and purchase intention. In accordance with the factors that signatures an experimental study, of true character there must be a treatment, a control and measured and obtained under random assignment. Where the treatment group was the ones that were told it was AI indicated as the treatment while the group that were told it was copywriter who written the text was a control group indicated as control. Where each participant where randomized into which group, they would belong to. This was then measured and analyzed based on the attitude that was measured in the first questionnaire, to investigate the third hypothesis (Coleman, 2019). The choice to do an experimental study in the second questionnaire was to investigate the treatment (AI) if that would impact the purchase intention, and thereafter test the results in relation with the attitude towards AI from the first survey.

The questionnaire, a widely used data collection technique within the survey methodology, is employed in this study. This method is effective for gathering data suitable for quantitative analysis. In this research, self-completed, web-based questionnaires are used. In selfcompleted questionnaires, respondents record their own answers (Saunders et al., 2016). Participants in this study accessed the survey digitally through a link that was included in the social media posts.

There are disadvantages connected to web-based surveys. For example, inadequate attention to detail of the questions can lead to them being misunderstood, which cannot be corrected after the participant finishes the survey (Gillham, 2007). Therefore, piloting was employed in this study to pick up questions or wordings that are misleading or hard to understand. This allows researchers to increase validity and reliability of the questionnaire (Saunders et al., 2016) as well as detect and correct mistakes (Gillham, 2007). Before the participants were invited to partake in the survey, a pilot survey was sent out and completed by 15 participants. After receiving feedback, some minor changes were made to the questionnaire in terms of wording, spelling errors and measurements. When the corrections were done, the survey was distributed through posts on social media.

This study involved usage of multiple software tools to analyze the survey data. A cloudbased survey tool Qualtrics was used to create the questionnaire, and once the data was collected, it was exported to SPSS, a data analysis software. To match responses from the first and second part of the survey, Google Sheets was used, and matching was based on the participants' email addresses provided in both parts of the survey.

All of the tables, labels and content developed in the process of data analysis were translated to from Swedish to English when pasted into this paper. Forward-only translation method was applied for translations of the tables, which in theory could have an impact on translation adequacy (Maneesriwongul & Dixon, 2004). Since both researchers in this study are proficient in English, it was still deemed as suitable to use forward-only translation for output of data analysis.

4.5 Ethics

4.5.1 Research ethics

Ethical considerations in scientific and quantitative research, concerns the researcher's honesty and competence but not concludingly. Within quantitative research according to Panter and Sterba (2011), there are five ethical standards of beneficence, doing no harm, justice, integrity and confidentiality that give guidance on how to obtain ethical standards in accordance to ethical norms within social sciences. Similar ethical behavioral guidance have been developed in another study to obtain the ethical conduct and norms developed within the field of social sciences in western countries (Bhattacherjee, 2012). Where voluntary participation and harmlessness have been established as ethical behavior, indicating that participants are aware of that the participation is voluntary in the questionnaire and that they can withdraw their participation at any time without consequences or harm. In addition, it can be of unethical guidance if the participants received advantages if participating in the study that would have implemented their own free will. This standard of voluntary and harmlessness has also been applied in GDPR 2017 (Team, 2017), in the sense of individuals free will to give consent on handling their data, and that there is an option to refuse participation with no repercussions. Further on must the information regarding what the consent obtains be exact and clear for the participants. This has been applied and established
in a trustful manner in this study by having one question with information regarding information of why to collect the data, one for giving consent of processing it and one regarding that the participation is of their own free will. This to ensure that the participants understand and are aware of what they are giving consent for and under what circumstances. This has been defined by Bhattacherjee (2012) as important to disclose the purpose of the study, outcomes and possible benefits obtained from the result.

Continually, ethical behaviors regarding anonymity and confidentiality are of importance according to Bhattacherjee (2012), where anonymity enquires that the readers of this report cannot identify responses with a specific participant of the study. Confidentiality, privacy and self-determination, that has been applied when conducting the survey by providing the participants with information and not disclosing the personal information in the study connecting the data to an individual (Panter & Sterba, 2011) .In addition, is confidentiality of high importance when anonymity is not achievable, for example in this study to send out the second part of the questionnaire to the participants their email addresses were collected in the first survey. Thereafter were the answers traced and matched based on email addresses, to connect their standing of attitude in the first questionnaire with regards to their resulting purchase intention tested in the second questionnaire. Where email addresses according to GDPR is defined as personal data since is can be used to identify a natural person. To ensure confidentiality when processing personal data and to inform the participants on how to ensure a secure data protection when processing personal data, has the data only been available for the researchers and the participants were informed that the data wad to be deleted when the research study is finished. In accordance to GDPR is not ethical or legal to obtain personal data outside the what concerns the consent or when the data is no longer of use in the study (Team, 2017). Indicating in this study that the personal data of email addresses is deleted when data is processed, applied and the study is finished. This in accordance with the positivistic approach where moral considerations guide, and the overall accepted code within ethics is based on informed consent, confidentiality, anonymity and accuracy (Perry, 2007).

In addition, have Bhattacherjee (2012) provided guidance in the importance of ethical and moral reporting and analyzing. That result needs to the accurate in accordance with the answers of the survey, indicating that the results should not be manipulated to fit the hypotheses, but rather be analyzed in accordance with the accuracy of the answers. Indicating that it is important to use the results in the accurate manner, to test the hypothesis this in

accordance with the positivistic approach. Further on is misrepresenting the results also considered unethical, and that the researcher of this study follows this and reports and analyzes the results in an open and honest manner. This is also important to obtain the benefits of the research and developing the scientific community within social sciences. These ethical standards are according to Panter and Sterba (2011) judged by the data analytics and reporting standards of transparent, informative, accurate, grounded and precise. In this study these ethical standards are of high importance to incorporate a study of high ethical considerations to establish a trustworthy and that the researchers of this study can differ between ethical and unethical conduct when developing this study (Edwards, 2020). This research focused on applying and achieving these standards, and continually obtain a study characterized as true and valid with unbiased inferences in the representation of the sample. In quantitative research obtaining unbiased inferences is crucial to sustain trustworthiness.

In the sense of quantitative research, it is important to represent a sample population in the quantitative data collection that obtains to decrease the probability of bias data collection. This can be achieved by randomly assigning people to the study or assigning people in a randomized manner to experimental conditions (Zyphur & Pierides, 2017). In this study this has been achieved partly through assigning the population sample in the study to different experimental conditions randomly. Further on the researchers of this study has considered a large sample population regarding increasing the probability by decreasing false inferences and increasing the focus on trues. The large sample size was able to achieve through the internet and conducting a study independent of geographical location within Sweden increased the sample population and the diversity within on that department.

4.5.2 Ethical implications

The sample in this study was broad and accessed using a web-based survey. It was originally published within the networks of the researchers. This can according to Zyhpur & Pierdes (2017) impact the perceived ethical morality in regard to bias sample population and thereby impact the ethical standards applied during the data collection. The same study by Zyphur & Piereides (2017) considers the important ethical implications in quantitative research, such as uncertainty in sampling and measurements, followed by data analysis regarding parameter estimation.

In addition, by distributing this survey through the researcher's internet-based network online it became accessible beyond the established social network. While the distribution part concerns positive aspects, this survey also addresses the ethical consideration regarding privacy concerns. This type of ethical concern has been discussed more as more of our personal data is gathered on the internet and has become a concern for many people. This can impact the participation of online surveys, compared to face-to-face surveys (Evans & Mathur, 2018). In this study, the ethical concern in online surveys has been considered deeply in relation to offline. The data has been gathered accordingly to General data protection regulation (GDPR) and the participants are provided with information regarding why we need their email address, which is to distribute the second part of the survey. In this specific study, distributing the survey online provides a higher ethical standing than offline by the ability to reach a wider sample population and providing the participant with information.

4.6 Validity and reliability

The view of reliability in this study is formed to a high degree on the type of data collection selected to investigate the phenomena. In this study, a questionnaire is used and split into two different parts with a time frame in between to obtain a higher reliability standard. The first part of the questionnaire is focused on the factors that impact attitude and the second part is focused on the attitude in relation to a given behavior. This type of questionnaire, when it is developed into two different parts can be considered to be similar to what according to Kelley (1999) is explained as parallel forms. Parallel forms are characterized by when two different instruments are developed to be similar in the construct but different in what the questions are. In this type of parallel forms as well as in alternative forms, there are several days between them, generally between 7 and 14 days until the next instrument is studied. This is done to address the memory issues and ensure a high level of reliability (Kelley, 1999). While in our study the two instruments are more different to each other since the measuring is different in different stages. The two different questionnaires were sent out with several days apart to split the attitude construct from the purchasing intention construct to conclude that the answers are separated, which is done to ensure reliability and avoid consistency effect. The reliability level in this study has been tested with Cronbach Alpha to ensure internal consistency within the variables and an overall validity (Hair et al., 2011). The results of the tests are provided and interpreted in the following chapter.

This research has provided robust and replicable results by obtaining internal validity, which required simplification and abstraction to increase the tractability of the research (Schram, 2005). In this research, internal validity has been referred to the ability to draw confident casual conclusions from the research. In contrast, external validity has been defined as the ability to generalize from the research conducted, where the context is different from the current experimental research conducted (Loewenstein, 1999). This research is conducted in an experimental design within the economic department of social sciences. The notions of both external and internal validity have been defined in the last decades to be a central indicator of the worthiness of the experiment. If an experiment was not considered internally valid, then the treatment tested in the experiment would not be considered to have an impact on the effect of observation. Continually, if the experiment is not considered to have external validity, then the results are not considered to be applicable outside the unique settings of the experiment (Jiménez-Buedo & Miller, 2010). Further on, in this study as well as in earlier research conducted, internal validity has a higher importance within experimental research compared to external validity, that comes to be the cost (Jiménez-Buedo & Miller, 2010; Loewenstein, 1999; Schram, 2005). In this research, internal validity has been of importance and is demonstrated by, in accordance to Loewenstein (1999), randomly assigning the participants to different treatments for example. This tradeoff has been to some extent identified in this research as well at the cost of obtaining high internal validity has a lower external validity become the result. That has been applied at to some extent of the cost of external validity outside the study, that the findings are generalizable outside the context of this study (Jiménez-Buedo & Russo, 2021). It cannot be concluded that the outcome of this study regarding attitude of Swedes towards AI-usage in marketing, at this time can be considered applicable in a country with different political and technological standing and during a different time.

5. Results

This chapter contained a description of the data collected in the questionnaire and the resulted data analysis. The chapter started with descriptive analysis of the first questionnaire, then introducing the data of the hypotheses about compatibility and observability. This has been continued with hypotheses testing and introducing the second part of the questionnaire, with regards to the third hypothesis about the relation between attitude and purchase intention. The results have been investigated in relation to the hypotheses developed.

5.1 Descriptive statistics

The statistical results were introduced with a descriptive statistical analysis of the participants, to provide an insight of the participants. The first descriptive data where developed based on the first survey and the fourth question regarding age.

Table 1

Age	Frequency Po	ercent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
18-30 years old	28	24,6	24,6	24,6
31-43 years old	16	14	14	38,6
44-59 years old	33	28,9	28,9	67,5
60-72 years old	27	23,7	23,7	91,2
73 years old and above	10	8,8	8,8	100
Total	114	100	100	

Descriptive statistics- age

The table above showed the age distribution between the 114 respondents, indicated that 24,6 % of the respondents where in the age of 18-30 years old and thereby the biggest age group of respondents in the first survey. Followed by the age groups of 60-72 years old and 44-59 years old. The age group of 73 and above only contained 8,8% of the total of 114 respondents indicating the smallest group.

Followed with descriptive analysis about the participants gender in accordance with what they identify with. This data was collected based on question five of the survey.

Descriptive- gender

Gender		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Nonbinary	1	0,9	0,9	0,9
	Woman	47	41,2	41,2	42,1
	Man	65	57	57	99,1
	other	1	0,9	0,9	100
	Valid Total	114	100	100	

The biggest gender group in this study was men that obtained a total of 57% of the total 114 respondents. Followed by women that obtained 41,2% of the total 114 respondents. While only about 0,9% selected nonbinary being one participant and the same amount identified with others.

5.2 Reliability analysis

In this study, Cronbach Alpha has been used to ensure that the reliability level of each independent variable is in accordance with the recommended level. According to Hair et al. (2011) Cronbach alpha should be at least 0.70 to indicate a standard value of reliability, while values of 0.60 and lower is considered to indicate a lack of internal consistency and thereby reliability. In contrast, within some cases have lower values of Cronbach Alpha been sustained because of the items contribution to validity (Hair et al., 2011). The test of Cronbach Alpha has been widely used within organizational and social sciences research to measure reliability (Obermiller et al., 2005). Following tabels have been conducted to provide statistical data of the Cronbach Alpha of the first questionnaire. The Cronbach Alpha have been accompanied using a confidence interval of 95% (sig.=0,05) that have been applied as standard in SPSS statistical tests.

Reliability analysis- Observability

	Cronbach's Alpha	
Cronbach's	Based on	
Alpha	Standardized Items N of Items	
0,664	0,664	4

The above table showed the reliability statistics of variable Observability (α = 0,664) after the fourth item was reverse coded in SPSS. That according to, Hair et al. (2011) was below the acceptable level and indicated a low level of internal consistency and reliability, indicated that the variable needed to be overlooked for each item.

Table 4

	Reliability	analysis-	Observ	ability	all	items
--	-------------	-----------	--------	---------	-----	-------

		Scale	Corrected	Squared	Cronbach's
	Scale Mean if	Variance if	Item-Total	Multiple	Alpha if
	Item Deleted	Item Deleted	Correlation	Correlation	Item Deleted
Q1	12,0877	17,621	0,455	0,218	0,596
Q2	12,4035	13,376	0,607	0,548	0,472
Q3	12,2105	13,92	0,605	0,529	0,477
Q4	10,8772	19,649	0,172	0,039	0,767

The above table showed each items Cronbach Alpha within the Observability variable, and whether the Cronbach alpha for the variable would have improved if an item was deleted. The results showed that deleting Q4 item would have resulted in a higher value for the variable of (α =0,767). According to Hair et al. (2011), this indicated that the internal consistency of the variable would be higher if Q4 was deleted. Additionally, it was observed that for the Q4 item ($\rho_{Xi}R_{(i)}=0,172$), which was below 0,3 and was significantly lower compared to the rest, providing additional argument for its removal (Pallant, 2005).

The variable of Observability was adjusted, and the fourth item was taken away to obtain a higher Cronbach alpha and a higher level of internal consistency (Hair et al., 2011). After taken the fourth item away, the reliability analysis was performed once more and is presented below.

Table 5

Reliability analysis – Observability 3 items

	Cronbach's Alpha		
Cronbach's	Based on		
Alpha	Standardized Items	N of Items	
0,767	0,762		3

Table 9 presented the reliability statistics of the variable Observability analyzed using three items (α =0,767). The new value was according to Hair et al. (2011) considered to be an acceptable level that indicated internal consistency in the variable. The statistics show evidence that deleting the fourth item increased the reliability of the independent variable, and thereby the overall reliability.

Table 6

Reliability analysis - Compatibility

Cronbach's	Cronbach's Alpha Based		
Alpha	on Standardized Items	N of Items	
0,895	0,896		3

The above table showed the reliability statistics of the independent variable Compatibility that contained three items in the questionnaire. The Cronbach Alpha of the variable Compatibility was (α =0,895) which according to Hair et al. (2011) indicated a high level above the acceptable one of internal consistency and reliability within the variable.

Item DeletedItem DeletedCorrelationItem DeletedQ16,833313,450,8540,7320,79Q26,561413,5580,7760,6420,864		Scale Mean if	Scale Variance if	Item-Total	Squared Multiple	Cronbach's Alpha if
Q1 6,8333 13,45 0,854 0,732 0,79 O2 6,5614 13,558 0,776 0,642 0,864		Item Deleted	Item Deleted	Correlation	Correlation	Item Deleted
02 6 5614 13 558 0 776 0 642 0 86	Q1	6,8333	13,45	0,854	0,732	0,799
	Q2	6,5614	13,558	0,776	0,642	0,864
Q3 6,8509 13,562 0,752 0,591 0,88	Q3	6,8509	13,562	0,752	0,591	0,886

Reliability analysis- Compatibility all items

The above table represented the Cronbach Alpha for each of the three items in the compatibility variable and whether the overall Cronbach alpha would have been improved if an item was deleted. This compared with the Compatibility variable α =0,895 with all items, that deleting any of the three items would have resulted in a decrease in the Cronbach alpha value.

The following tables presented the reliability statistics of the independent variable Observability that contained four items. The last and fourth item was reverse questioned, which mean that the Likert scale in relation to the item was reversed. The values then had to be recoded to obtain the correct values in relation to the rest of the items in SPSS.

5.3 Homoscedacity and Multicollinearity

To assess goodness-of-fit of the linear regression model, the data was checked for linearity, normality, homoscedasticity, and absence of multicollinearity. The assumptions are required to be met for the model to produce reliable results (Casson & Farmer, 2014).

Figure 4

Regression analysis- Homoscedacity



Linearity and homoscedasticity were checked by visually inspecting the scatter plot of the residuals. The scatterplot displayed no clear pattern, implying that the variance of the residuals is constant, or in other words, homoscedasticity. No curvature of the points on the scatterplot could be observed, meaning that the linearity assumption holds. (Pallant, 2005).

Multicollinearity was checked using VIF values that can be observed in Table 11. A value below 10 on all variables indicates that the assumption of absence of multicollinearity is met (Pallant, 2005).

Figure 5





The normality assumption was checked using a P-P plot. It can be observed that the data points approximately followed the normality line, implied that the assumption was met (Pallant, 2005).

5.4 Hypotheses Testing H1 and H2 with Linear regression analysis

The multiple regression analysis was applied to investigated the relationship with independent variables and a dependent variable (Morgan, 2004). The regression analysis assumes that there was normality and a framework to be tested based on a theoretical basis. In marketing, the regression analysis has been applied to identify variables that are most impactful (Mesquita & Kostelijk, 2022). In the first questionnaire based on H1 and H2, the dependent variable was Attitude towards AI in marketing and the independent variables were Observability and Compatibility.

Variance – Compatibility and Observability

			Adjusted R	Std. Error of	
Model	R	R Square	Square	the Estimate	
	1,690 ^a	0,476	0,467	1,16253	

Notes:

Predictors: (Constant), Compatibility, Observability Dependent Variable: Attitude

The value (R²=0,476) indicated according to Morgan (2004) that 47,6% of the variance in the dependent variable "Attitude towards AI in marketing" can be predicted and explained by the independent variables of Compatibility and Observability.

Table 9

ANOVA- Compatibility and Observability

		Sum of		Mean		
Model		Squares	df	Square	F S	big.
	Regression	136,477	2	68,239	50,492 <	,00 1 ^b
	Residual	150,014	111	1,351		
	1 Total	286,491	113			

Notes:

Dependent Variable: My attitude towards AI in marketing is...- my attitud Predictors: (Constant), Compatibility, Observability

The above ANOVA table showed (F=50,492), while (sig.=0,01) was below (sig.= 0,05) that according to, Mesquita & Kostelijk (2022) indicated that at least one of the independent variables was considered to have a statistically significant influence on the dependent variable attitude towards AI in marketing.

ANOVA Coefficients and Collinearity- Compatibility and Observability

					С	ollinearity Statist	ics	
				Standardized				
		Unstandardized	Coefficients	Coefficients				
Model		Coefficients B	Error Beta	Beta	t	Sig.	Tolerance	VIF
	(Constant)	6,022	0,334			18,012 <,001		
	Observability	0,026	0,063	0,02	9	0,418 0,677	0,982	1,019
	1 Compatibility	-0,579	0,059	-0,68	6	-9,892 <,001	0,982	1,019

Coefficients

Notes:

Dependent Variable: My attitude towards AI in marketing is...- my attitude is:

Table 12 showed the regression coefficient and the slope of the regression line, that indicated the correlation between the dependent and independent variable. The regression analysis predicted different variables, where (Sig<0,05) was considered to indicate that the independent variables predict the dependent variable (Morgan, 2004). The independent variable Observability obtained a (Sig.=0,677), which showed that the variable does not have a statistically significant impact on the dependent variable. Continually, the independent variable of Compatibility obtained (sig.< 0,001), indicated that Compatibility has a statistically significant effect on the dependent variable.

Based on the results presented the outcome in relation to the hypotheses tested are presented below.

H1: High degree of Observability in AI technology has a positive effect on the individuals' attitudes towards AI generated content in marketing. - not supported

H2: High degree of Compatibility in AI technology has a positive effect on the individuals' attitude towards AI generated content in marketing. – supported

5.5 Descriptive Statistics Second Questionnaire

The following tables investigated the third hypothesis regarding the dependent variable "Purchase intention" and the independent variable "Attitude towards AI in marketing". In the second part of the questionnaire participants were split randomly into two groups, one group was told the advertising message was written by a human copywriter and the other half was told it was written by AI. In this part there is only one independent variable and one dependent variable, which implies, according to Mesquita & Kostelijk (2022), that a simple linear regression analysis is used.

Table 11

Descriptive

				Std.		95% Confidence In	terval for Mean		
	Ν		Mean	Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
	0	36	3,4444	1,68089	0,28015	2,8757	4,0132	0	7
	1	35	2,9143	1,35845	0,22962	2,4476	3,3809	0	6
Total		71	3,1831	1,54282	0,1831	2,8179	3,5483	0	7

The above table showed the randomized split between the groups, (N=35) participants were told the text was written by AI, while (N=36) participants were told the text was written by a human copywriter. The mean values revealed that the purchasing intention, as measured on a seven-point bipolar Likert scale, (M=3,4444) for the AI group and (M=2,9143) for the copywriter group suggesting a minimal difference between the two groups concerning their purchasing intention.

5.6 Hypothesis testing H3

Table 12

One-way ANOVA – purchase intention

	Sum of		1	Mean			
	Squares	df	S	Square	F	S	big.
Between Groups	4,98	8	1	4,98	8	2,129	0,149
Within Groups	161,632	2	69	2,34	2		
Total	166,62	2	70				

The table above displayed (Sig.=0,149), which exceeded (sig.>0,05), meaning that there is no significant difference in purchasing intention between groups after reading the promotional message (Morgan, 2004). Indicated that being told it was AI did not significantly impact participants' purchasing intention negatively compared to being told it was a copywriter.

Variance- Attitude

			Adjusted R	Std. Error of	
Model	R	R Square	Square	the Estimate	
	1,446 ^a	0,199	0,176	1,526	
Notes:					

Predictors: (Constant), Attitude AI

The adjusted R square according to Morgan (2004) showed how much of the variance in the dependent variable that was explained by the independent variable. Within the group that were told that the text was written by AI in the second questionnaire, 17,6% of the variance in the dependent variable of purchase intention can be explained by the independent variable attitude towards AI in marketing.

Table 14

Model		Sum of Squares df		N S	Mean Square		Sig.
	Regression	19,70	1	1	19,70	1	8,459 ,006 ^b
	Residual	79,18′	7	34	2,32	9	
	1 Total	98,889	9	35			

ANOVA – purchase intention and attitude

Notes:

Dependent Variable: Purchase intention AI

Predictors: (Constant), Attitude AI

This result (Sig.=0,006) indicated, according to Mesquita & Kostelijk (2022), that the independent variable of Attitude towards AI in marketing does have a significant impact on the dependent variable purchase intention since (sig.<0,05) within the group that where told the text was authored by AI.

Coefficients

Model	Unsta	Unstandardized Coefficients			Standardized Coefficients				
	В	Sto	l. Error	Beta	t	S	lig.		
(Constant)		1,211	0,809			1,496	0,144		
1 Attitude-AI		0,499	0,172	0,446		2,908	0,006		

Notes:

Dependent Variable: Purchase intention - AI

The table showed (B=0,499) indicated the expected change in the dependent variable purchase intention for each one-unit increase in the independent variable Attitude towards AI in marketing (Pallant, 2005). This showed that there was a moderately positive relationship between the participants' attitudes towards AI and their purchasing intention.

The (sig.=0,006) was lower than (sig.=0,05) indicated a statistically significant relationship between the dependent variable purchase intention and independent variable attitude towards AI in marketing. This mean that attitude towards AI in marketing was considered to have a favorable effect on purchase intention, indicated that the hypothesis can be supported (Morgan, 2004).

The above table and statistical results, show the outcome with regards to third hypothesis as presented below.

H3: Positive attitudes towards AI generated content in marketing has a favorable effect on consumers purchase intention - supported.

6. Discussion

In the discussion part of this paper, the findings are discussed that was revealed in the analysis of the data collected in this research. The purpose of this study was to examine the potential relationship between the concepts of Compatibility, Observability, and attitude towards AI in marketing. The concepts were derived from existing and previous research, and evaluated using questionnaires from which the items were adjusted to fit the context. This chapter is divided into sections, focusing on each of the concepts Compatibility and Observability and their effect on attitudes. Further on, the impact of revealing the text's source (AI-generated vs. human-generated) on participants' purchasing intentions is investigated.

6.1 Observability

This section has focused on the findings related to Observability in the context of Diffusion of Innovation Theory, defined by Rogers (2003) as the degree of visibility of an innovation and the extent to which its benefits can be observed and communicated within a social system. The findings from the first part of the questionnaires showed that based on the significance value for Observability was (Sig.>0,05), the relationship that exists between observability and attitude towards AI in marketing is statistically non-significant. This was inconsistent with research done by Ahn & Park (2022) and Al Breiki et al, (2022), in which observability was found to have a significant effect on attitude in both cases.

The lack of a statistically significant effect indicates that the mere visibility of the benefits and usage of AI in the context of marketing was not a strong determinant for forming positive attitudes in the public. In other words, whether usage and benefits of AI in marketing could be observed or not, had no effect on their attitude towards the technology. Individuals' attitudes are formed by their values, beliefs, and experiences (Smith et al., 2008), which in this case, are affected by what has been communicated in the sense of benefits of applying AI in marketing. While the use of AI in marketing can be visible, it does not mean that the benefits have been observable or clearly communicated within the social context of the consumer to the extent that it can be considered observable. Additionally, it could be possible that even if the technology would be visible and present in the public discourse, media and advertising,

the benefits and implications of its use may be hard to comprehend. This could potentially explain why increased level of Observability does not lead to a more positive attitude as demonstrated in this study, since the public may not understand what usage and benefits of the technology means.

Observability has in this study been found to have a non-significant relationship with attitude towards AI-usage in marketing. This result can potentially be explained through the concept of technological skepticism. Previous research has found statistically significant relationships between skepticism and attitude (Kwon & Ahn, 2021; Obermiller et al., 2005; O'Shaughnessy et al., 2022). Skepticism refers to the inclination of an individual to question and have reservations about different subjects (Obermiller & Spangenberg, 1998). It could be the case that individuals with high levels of tech skepticism have already formulated a somewhat fixed attitude towards AI, and this predetermined attitude could be somewhat resistant to change, regardless of the visibility and demonstrated benefits of the technology in society. Essentially, their skepticism might overshadow the observability of AI. Hence, the role of tech skepticism could potentially mitigate the impact of observability, which provides arguments for investigation in future research. Furthermore, individuals tend to endorse explicit selfevaluations that are consistent with their cultural context at the present time, while their unconscious, implicit self-evaluations reflect their long-term interpretations and beliefs (Hetts et al., 1999). This phenomenon is called the bandwagon effect, which is defined as the tendency of people to conform to the opinion of the majority, even if it contradicts their own viewpoints and beliefs (Bindra et al., 2022). Potentially, if an individual has the perception that most of the society are skeptic to technology, he or she might report a more negative attitude, even if it is not consistent with their own personal views and their reported score on observability, thus affecting the results.

Additionally, the nature of AI as an innovation could also contribute to the lack of a significant relationship between the concept of observability and attitude towards artificial intelligence. AI is often embedded in different applications and systems, working in symbiosis together with other types of technologies, which makes a direct observation more challenging. The participants in this study could, because of the lack of clear observability in AI, have a hard time identifying it compared to other technological developments, that in accordance with the history was easier to identify. In the past, the benefits of agricultural technological innovations were easier to identify and in many cases could be felt and touched

(Rogers, 1962). With a technological innovation that is not touchable but rather integrated within other technologies that an individual already is familiar and considers as advanced, observing the benefits of artificial intelligence specifically can be hard. When the obtained benefit of AI-usage is as observable as a technological innovation in agriculture, the effect on the individuals' beliefs and perceptions would potentially be higher. It could be the case that the benefits of AI-usage within marketing that an individual can experience today are not obvious or identifiable enough.

Commonly, the evaluation of Observability is focused on the end users of the innovation, who can observe and appreciate the direct benefits of the technology. This is exemplified in the research conducted by Min et.al (2019) where observability was shown to positively affect perceived usefulness and ease-of-use. In another study, observability was shown to positively affect medical doctors' and nurses' adoption decisions regarding smartphones (Park & Chen, 2007). Furthermore, as mentioned in the methodology part of this study, the questionnaire developed by Moore & Benbasat (1991) that the construct and the items in this research were adapted from, included questions that presumed that the participant is also the user of the technology. In contrast, this research focused on usage of generative AI in marketing, in the consumers sense, with email marketing being used as a marketing tool. This meant that the individual only observes the outcome of the AI-usage in marketing and not the process of it being used to for example, generate a promotional message. This could mean that the content of the message has an impact on the obtained visibility of the AI technology being used. If the content of the message included the benefits of the application of AI, then the observability for the innovation would be greater. This could then imply if the use of AI-technology was more identifiable, observability would have a positive impact on the individual's attitude. This would then be consistent with previous research that have found a positive and statistically significant relationship between the variables (Ali et al., 2019; Min et al., 2019; Moore & Benbasat, 1991; Park & Chen, 2007).

6.2 Compatibility

In this study, the effect of the compatibility element in the diffusion of innovation theory has been investigated regarding its influence on attitude. Compatibility refers to how well the technological innovation aligns with one's personal social values, experiences, and beliefs. The theory suggests that the more compatible these are with the technological innovation the more accepted it is by the individual (Rogers, 2003). Previous research have found that the degree of compatibility obtained by an individual has a positive effect on the behavioral intention (Nordhoff et al., 2021) and attitude towards technological innovation (Lin et al., 2010). This formed the foundation of the second hypothesis of this study, that the more aligned usage of AI in marketing was with the participants beliefs and values, the more positive attitude they would display towards the technology.

Supporting evidence regarding Compatibility having a significant and positive effect on attitude towards AI in the marketing context was found in this study (sig.<0,05). The results are consistent with previous research where compatibility was found to have a positive effect on attitude in the context of mobile banking (Lin, 2011), and anti-spyware adoption (Lee & Kozar, 2008). The findings of this research imply that a higher degree of compatibility of usage of AI in marketing with the individuals' values and beliefs fosters a more positive attitude towards the technology. Therefore, an effort to associate usage of AI in marketing with values and beliefs commonly present in a society may prove useful in fostering a more positive attitude towards the technology in the eyes of the public. This result also suggests that individuals who appreciate the benefits of AI usage in marketing may perceive it as in line with their lifestyle and inclinations. This means that for instance, a company looking to engage and retain consumers could focus its communication on utilization of AI technology and its associated benefits in their marketing efforts.

Building on the theoretical ground that the attitude of an individual is formed based on his/hers values and beliefs according to Amoroso & Lim (2017), the results of this study further facilitate the compatibility element of the diffusion of innovation theory as an adequate concept to consider when developing new technologies. If the innovators are concerned with the public's attitudes towards their innovation, it may be of use to consider the compatibility of it with values and beliefs present in the society of the individual. The results of this research suggest that if the public are convinced that the innovation is compatible with their lifestyle and inclinations, their attitude towards it would improve, resulting in a reduced threshold regarding the adoption of the innovation. This in turn would potentially mean that the benefits of the innovation to the society would manifest quicker and at a lower cost for the innovator.

These findings provide support for the earlier developed research regarding the relationship between compatibility and attitude, previously displayed in the context of mobile banking sector (Lin, 2011) and anti-spyware adoption (Lee & Kozar, 2008).

6.3 Attitude and purchase intention

Attitude in this research has been defined through various research papers that have attempted to define the concept of attitude. What can be concluded to describe and form this paper is the definition that our personal attitudes have been developed by our values and beliefs developed during a long period of time (Roos & Hahn, 2017). The individuals' values and beliefs are to some extent influenced by the cultural and social context that they identify with (Boer & Fischer, 2013). In this study, Attitudes are measured towards the use of AI in marketing, influenced by the specific individuals' values and beliefs formed by their social and cultural construct.

The results indicate small differences with regards to the purchase intention between the groups of those that were told the marketing text was generated by AI and those who were told it was a copywriter. Continually, it can be stated that when comparing the groups of AI and Copywriter, the difference between the groups in their purchase intention were not statistically significant. This can indicate that consumers do not think or are influenced by who or what writes the marketing campaign if it is AI or a copywriter. The individual consumers purchase intention can in accordance with the argument indicate that the purchase intention is not influenced by how the promotional message is generated by but rather the quality of it in the eyes of the consumer. The goodness of fit with the message with regards to the individual values and beliefs could according to Roos & Hahn (2017) influence the attitude, in this case towards the use of AI in marketing. The result of this study shows that level of attitude has a positive and statistically significant effect on purchase intention (sig.<0,05) within the context of AI in marketing using email marketing as the marketing tool. This was demonstrated by examining data provided by the group of participants that was told that the marketing message was generated by AI.

The theory of planned behavior can imply that when an individual has a positive purchase intention then the chance of actually pursuing the given behavior is greater, indicating a

bigger chance of purchasing the product (Ajzen, 1991). Attitude can influence the intention to pursue a specific behavior and thereby also the chance of engaging in the given behavior (Smith et al., 2008). As investigated in this study, the role of attitude regarding purchase intention when AI is applied in marketing. The attitude is personal since it is influenced by ones' own values formed by social experiences, indicating that attitudes can be positive while based on different backgrounds. This implies that consumers can have different experiences with regards to marketing in different context that has influenced their attitude about this case. Where even if the age gap between the participants where wide and the extended experiences and knowledges within AI where different, the attitude towards it can be different depending on the context of it. Indicating in this case that the attitude of applying AI in marketing can be different based on the marketing tool that is applied and how the participants view it but also the product of service that the promotional message regards.

Credibility was in this study considered to be absolute and obvious when regarding AI and attitude, to believe in a promotional message and its creator. Credibility is considered essential to be able to obtain an attitude, and especially a positive attitude. The significant relationship that was established between a positive attitude towards the use of AI in marketing had favorable effect on purchase intention. Indicating that credibility had to be obtained to achieve this. That the role of high perceived credibility and trust of the text lead participants to subconsciously associate generative AI technology with the ability to produce accurate, authentic and trustworthy content that is essential for the experiment to test only their attitude (Cukurova et al., 2020; Shin & Park, 2019).

In this study this relation between attitude and purchase intention been investigated in the specific context, of that a positive attitude towards AI generated content has a positive impact on the individuals purchase intention in regards the product of a smartphone developed by a fictious brand. The use of fictious brand may have impacted the purchase intention to a more positive standing because their where no prior experiences that could have influenced the standing towards purchase intention. On the other hand, it could also impact purchase intention negatively since the participants have no prior experience or knowledge regarding the brand. To exclude the factor of past experiences and brand related implications, a fictious brand was developed to only investigate the attitude and purchase intention. The brand was implied with characteristics that to different extent influences the participants purchase intention regarding their values and beliefs regarding the email-marketing message.

58

In addition, this relation has between attitude and purchase intention only been investigated with email as the marketing tool, indicating that the results of this relation could be different in other marketing tools. Smith et al. (2008) could conclude in their study that the same relationship could be identified within internet purchasing behavior, and through this study the same can be applied within email marketing. It can be observed that the relationship between attitude and purchase intention is favorable within an internet-based tool. An explanation of this phenomenon could be that as internet-usage gets more and more prevalent in people's lives, they are more inclined to be receptive towards new technologies within that field.

The results indicate that the third hypothesis was supported, implying that a positive attitude towards AI-usage in marketing has a positive impact on the purchase intention when the individual is aware that the message is AI-generated. However, the results also show no statistically significant difference in purchasing intention between AI and copywriter groups, meaning that disclosing the author of the text does not matter in the context of marketing messages within email. This can imply that having an AI producing the text does not have a negative effect on the consumers purchase intention, but rather a slightly positive impact if the consumers attitude towards AI is positive. This is consistent with the theory of planned behavior and prior research where the theory has been implied and indicates that this study adds the support with this correlation when it concerns new technological developments. The use of AI in marketing can based on the results, which indicate that it can be applied and communicated to a wider extent with a positive influence on purchase intention within the context of commercial electronics.

7. Conclusions and recommendations

The purpose of this chapter was to provide a summary of the key finding, strengths, and weaknesses in this research. This section consists of several subsections, including the conclusion, theoretical contributions, managerial implications, limitations, and future research recommendations. It presents a clear and concise overview of the research outcomes, while highlighting the study's contributions to the existing theory, practical applications, limitations, and areas where further investigation could be useful.

7.1 Conclusion

The purpose of developing this research paper was to investigate the relation and effects between attitude and purchase intention within the context of using AI in marketing. Compatibility was shown to have a positive relation with the individuals' attitude towards the use of AI in marketing. With regards to the research question and the results of the study, it shows that consumers positive attitude towards AI in marketing have a positive effect towards their purchase intention. In contrast, results showed that whether a company's content is created with AI, or a human does not have a significant impact on consumers purchase intention. This concludes that consumers are open for a wider use of AI in marketing with regards to their purchase intention.

7.2 Theoretical contributions

The theory of planned behavior developed by Ajzen (1991) has been used in this study, to explain the relation of attitudes and intention. This study has confirmed in accordance with the theory of planned behavior that attitude has a significant impact when predicting the intention to precede a given behavior. The same confirmation of this relationship has been proven in earlier research conducted within the theory of planned behavior in different contexts (Bosnjak et al., 2020; Hansen, 2008; Lonsdale, 2017). Prior research has extended the theory in regards to the given behavior of purchase intention within online grocery shopping (George, 2004). This definition of purchase as the given behavior has been applied in this study as well, in a different context. The theory was applied to understand the attitude towards the application of a technological innovation in marketing and its implication on

consumers purchase intention. This study contributed to extend the theory of planned behavior, to regarding the application of technology in relation to the human behavior. The theory has now been proven too been applied within a wider context that goes beyond the socialist constructs.

In addition to prior research, this study does not only extent the application of the theory of planned behavior within technology. It provides more evidence that the theory is applicable within a wider extent of context in contrast to what has earlier been established. The theory is applicable within online behavior but also investigating the attitude of a new technology, and the use of it within marketing. The theory of planned behavior was in this study applied in addition to the diffusion of innovation theory, providing significant evidence that the theory of planned behavior as a sociologist theory can be complemented with theories within different sciences.

Further on, the elements of observability and compatibility within the theory of diffusion of innovation, developed by Rogers (1962), were applied in this study. The element of compatibility was considered to influence attitude, providing evidence based on this research that the theory of diffusion of innovation to some extent can be applied to measure factors of attitude. Further on, the theory has been developed in the application of it within not only the end user experience (Rogers, 2003) but the individuals thoughts and feelings when experiencing the use of new technological innovations.

This study also showed that the construct of observability did not significantly affect attitude when it concerns consumers. This implies that the theory can be divided and that the elements have different standings. This provides theoretical limitations of the theory of diffusion of innovation and at the same time evidence that the theory at least partly can be applied in contexts that complies with theories beyond technological innovations. This results in that this research provided evidence of that the theory can be applied within a marketing and consumer context together with theories of different scientific areas.

7.3 Managerial implications

The findings of this study offer valuable insights for marketing managers and decisionmakers, particularly those who want to use artificial intelligence technology in their marketing. The results showed statistically significant relationships between the concepts of Compatibility and attitudes towards AI, as well as the impact of attitude on purchasing intention when users know that the content was authored by AI. Understanding the factors that affect users' attitudes towards AI and its effect on their behavior can inform the development and implementation of the technology within the field of marketing.

One finding is that the nature of the text (AI-generated vs. human-generated) did not significantly impact users' purchasing intentions. This suggests that the quality and relevance of the content is more important to them than its origin. As a result, marketing managers can implement AI technology in their practices without worrying that it might negatively affect purchasing intention if consumers become aware of its use. In addition to the conclusion that a positive attitude towards AI in marketing has a favorable effect on the purchase intention, this can be applied in future marketing dilemmas. When trying to implement AI in marketing the managers need to know that their consumers obtain a positive attitude towards the innovation to acknowledge that there will be a positive effect on purchase intention. Managers can therefore focus on the process of producing high-quality content that is relevant and addresses users' needs and preferences as effective as possible.

The positive effect of Compatibility on attitude towards AI, which in turn was found to positively affect purchasing intention, could also be leveraged by marketers to increase the level of compatibility and change consumers' beliefs about the technology for the better, marketing managers and other decision-makers could communicate the societal benefits of using AI technology to consumers. For instance, they could explain that AI makes processes more efficient, saving time for employees and reducing their workload.

Although Observability did not have a significant effect on attitudes towards AI in this study, it is important to not overlook its potential implications. The lack of a significant relationship could be attributed to various factors, such as the study's specific context or the fact that participants were not the end-users of AI technology. Observability has previously been demonstrated to influence attitude. Therefore, despite it not having an effect in this study, marketing managers who work with targeting the end user of a particular innovation, should not overlook observability and incorporate the concept in their marketing efforts. For example, managers could incorporate explaining how and why AI-tools such as chatbots, Generative-AI or AI-driven product recommendations are used in their business and how that

benefits the consumers in their marketing strategy. This would increase the overall observability of AI in the context of marketing, and potentially lead to improved attitude towards the technology. Nevertheless, Observability remains an essential concept in the diffusion of innovations theory, and understanding its potential impact on consumers' attitudes can assist managers and improve the quality of their marketing efforts.

7.4 Ethical and societal implications

The authors of this study have identified ethical and societal implications related to the findings of the thesis. The first identified implication showed in the results is that people do not care that much about who or what generates the marketing content. This could concern copywriters that have studied and are experts on developing marketing texts, and that the consumers in accordance with this study react the same regardless. The challenge of applying AI in this is the lack of or limited ethical codes that humans obtain in relation to AI, and that the outcome of not having a human being controlling it, could come at the cost of the consumers. Further on, the problem of transparency, moral judgement and privacy concerns have been considered a risk, as more of the personal life comes online (Dwivedi et al., 2023a). AI robots such as ChatGPT today in the beginning of 2023 do not have a clear moral and ethical coding of what is wrong and right, which is something that each company must take into standing when reviewing the content created by AI. While ethical guidelines within EU has been established, these are more focused on the user of AI and not consequently what is right or not (Rochel, 2023).

In addition, there are both ethical and social implications of that AI is starting to provide results in digital marketing that are beyond the human capability and obtain the same level of purchase intention in relation to the attitude. It could be considered unethical to develop AI robots that take the jobs away from people that have put money and time into becoming educated within their fields, for example copywriting, indirectly taking away jobs or changing the characteristics of it because it is more efficiently done by an AI robot. While having humans work in marketing is important, the role of generating marketing text will be changed into being more focused in directing the AI robot to do it (Mahmud et al., 2022). This indicates that the marketing teams that include copywriters will focus more on the interplay and collaborations between humans and AI, and thereby limit the social interplay between colleagues (Arslan et al., 2022).

63

7.5 Limitations

One of the limitations of this study is the sample. Due to time and resource constraints, a convenience sampling strategy was used, which is highly prone to bias. The study's sample may not fully represent the target population, potentially limiting the generalizability of the results. The participants were drawn from a broad population, which can for example mean that their exposure to and understanding of AI technology can vary. This could also affect the generalizability of the results.

The population and sample were broad in this study since it focused on the consumers in Sweden, and it is likely that the participants had encountered the end results or output of AI, such as content produced by AI, rather than the process of generating it. This could have led to a limitation of reduced ability to observe the benefits of AI usage in marketing, as they may not have been directly involved in using the technology or experiencing its advantages from the users' point of view.

Another limitation of this research is related to the measurement of latent variables in the questionnaire. Since all the constructs in our model were assessed through rating questions, the wording of these items might affect participants' comprehension and responses. While most of our items were adopted from previous research, meanings could potentially be lost in translation. This is because the questionnaire and all the items were translated to Swedish before distribution. The items were also adjusted to fit the context of this research, which could influence how the participants interpret them. For example, finding the right word for "accurate" in Swedish was challenging.

Furthermore, the use of self-reported questionnaires as a data collection method inherently carries certain limitations. Self-reported data may be affected by recall errors if participants are asked about past events or experiences, which affects the quality of the responses. Additionally, the wording of the questions and the response scales can influence how participants interpret and respond to the items, and since they cannot ask the researchers to clarify, this could potentially lead to measurement errors. Furthermore, self-reported data may not capture the full complexity of the constructs being studied, as the responses are limited by

the participants' self-awareness. Visual cues cannot be observed when data is collected in this manner.

7.6 Future research recommendations

This research found supporting evidence in a different context compared to prior research conducted. Based on this research did the element of observability in the theory of diffusion of innovation, not have a significant effect on the attitude towards the use of AI in marketing. A possible focus for future research could be to investigate this in a different context, where AI is more visible, and where the benefits are communicated better and easier to observe for the user of it, considering that earlier research has found observability to have an impact. The element could be tested within the context of AI-usage in marketing with focus on the marketing manager as the user of the innovation.

The application of diffusion of innovation should be applied more in future research as technological innovations are becoming more influential in our personal and consumer life. For example, a possible direction could be to investigate the extent to how widely AI can be applied in various sectors and still obtain positive attitude towards AI by the consumer public. For example, whether people would still have a positive attitude if they knew that their medical problems or physical problems were handled by AI. This with the elements of observability, compatibility, and the concept of credibility to further understand if people perceive it as credible, complying with, and observable with an AI giving recommendations on physical problems of the consumer. This could further on be tested in relation to purchasing intention when concerning physical help from an AI bot.

Through usage of theories, this study contributed to the body of knowledge regarding the applicability of them in the context of marketing and how theories can be combined. This research demonstrated that the theories are useful, applicable and can be used in the future to explore and explain the usage of AI and its effect on consumers, which is becoming more and more relevant as the development of the technology continues. This context has been tested only within the Swedish society, and that future research could add to this by investigating the relationship between attitude and purchase intention in the context of AI within a different societal or cultural context, where values and opportunities are different. There is a growing

number of potential topics for future research within this field, given the rapid pace of technological innovation and its increasing integration into the daily lives of the public. As technology continues to evolve, exploring subjects such as the impact of AI on consumer behavior or the ethical implications of AI-usage in marketing become increasingly important.

Future research could focus on examining consumer attitudes towards AI and its effects in marketing contexts beyond email marketing, which has been the focus of this study. Where research can continuously focus on exploring consumer perceptions and responses to AI-generated content in marketing context in social media, search engine optimization, personalized recommendations, and printed advertisement. This to achieve a comprehensive understanding of how to integrate the use of AI to produce content that influences consumer behavior and attitudes. Another area worthy of investigation is if the effect observed in the context of this study also applies in other areas where generative AI can be used, such as images and videos. Additionally, examining if the observed effects remain consistent across different products or industries would contribute to a deeper understanding of the generalizability and applicability of the findings.

References

- Abu-Shanab, E., & Nor, K. M. (2013). The influence of language on research results. *Management Research and Practice*, 5(4), 37-48.
- Afraz, F. C., Vogel, A., Dreher, C., & Berghöfer, A. (2021). Promoting Integrated Care through a Global Treatment Budget: A Qualitative Study in German Mental Health Care using Rogers' Diffusion of Innovation Theory. *International journal of integrated care*, 21(4), 27-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.5940</u>
- Ahn, H., & Park, E. (2022). For sustainable development in the transportation sector: Determinants of acceptance of sustainable transportation using the innovation diffusion theory and technology acceptance model. *Sustainable development* (*Bradford, West Yorkshire, England*), 30(5), 1169-1183.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.2309</u>
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational behavior and human decision processes*, 50(2), 179-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T</u>
- Ajzen, I. (2011). The theory of planned behaviour: Reactions and reflections. *Psychology & health*, *26*(9), 1113-1127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2011.613995</u>
- Akroush, M. N., & Al-Debei, M. M. (2015). An integrated model of factors affecting consumer attitudes towards online shopping. *Business process management journal*, 21(6), 1353-1376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-02-2015-0022</u>
- Al Breiki, M., Al Abri, A., Al Moosawi, A. M., & Alburaiki, A. (2022). Investigating science teachers' intention to adopt virtual reality through the integration of diffusion of innovation theory and theory of planned behaviour: the moderating role of perceived skills readiness. *Education and information technologies*, 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-022-11367-z

- Ali, M., Raza, S. A., Puah, C. H., & Amin, H. (2019). Consumer acceptance toward takaful in Pakistan: An application of diffusion of innovation theory. *International journal of emerging markets*, 14(4), 620-638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOEM-08-2017-0275</u>
- Amoroso, D., & Lim, R. (2017). The mediating effects of habit on continuance intention. International journal of information management, 37(6), 693-702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.05.003</u>
- Appelman, A., & Sundar, S. S. (2016). Measuring Message Credibility: Construction and Validation of an Exclusive Scale. *Journalism & mass communication quarterly*, 93(1), 59-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077699015606057</u>
- Arslan, A., Cooper, C., Khan, Z., Golgeci, I., & Ali, I. (2022). Artificial intelligence and human workers interaction at team level: a conceptual assessment of the challenges and potential HRM strategies. *International journal of manpower*, 43(1), 75-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-01-2021-0052</u>
- Ball, H. L. (2019). Conducting Online Surveys. *Journal of human lactation*, *35*(3), 413-417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419848734
- Bawack, R. E., Wamba, S. F., Carillo, K. D. A., & Akter, S. (2022). Artificial intelligence in E-Commerce: a bibliometric study and literature review. *Electronic markets*, 32(1), 297-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-022-00537-z</u>
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social science research : principles, methods, and practices. Global Text Project.
- Bindra, S., Sharma, D., Parameswar, N., Dhir, S., & Paul, J. (2022). Bandwagon effect revisited: A systematic review to develop future research agenda. *Journal of business research*, 143, 305-317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.01.085</u>
- Blass, A., & Gurevich, Y. (2003). Algorithms: A Quest for Absolute Definitions. *Bulletin of the European Association for Theoretical Computer Science*(81).

Boden, M. A. (2016). AI: its nature and future. Oxford University Press.

- Boer, D., & Fischer, R. (2013). How and When Do Personal Values Guide Our Attitudes and Sociality? Explaining Cross-Cultural Variability in Attitude-Value Linkages.
 Psychological bulletin, 139(5), 1113-1147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031347</u>
- Bohner, G., & Wanke, M. (2002). *Attitudes and attitude change*. Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315784786
- Boostrom, R., Balasubramanian, S. K., & Summey, J. H. (2013). Plenty of attitude: evaluating measures of attitude toward the site. *Journal of research in interactive marketing*, 7(3), 201-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIM-02-2013-0012</u>
- Bosnjak, M., Ajzen, I., & Schmidt, P. (2020). The Theory of Planned Behavior: Selected Recent Advances and Applications. *Europe's journal of psychology*, 16(3), 352-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v16i3.3107</u>
- Buchan, H. F. (2005). Ethical Decision Making in the Public Accounting Profession: An Extension of Ajzen's Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of business ethics*, 61(2), 165-181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-005-0277-2</u>
- Campbell, C., Sands, S., Ferraro, C., Tsao, H.-Y., & Mavrommatis, A. (2020). From data to action: How marketers can leverage AI. *Business horizons*, 63(2), 227-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2019.12.002</u>
- Cases, A.-S., Fournier, C., Dubois, P.-L., & Tanner, J. F. (2010). Web Site spill over to email campaigns: The role of privacy, trust and shoppers' attitudes. *Journal of business research*, 63(9), 993-999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2009.02.028</u>
- Casson, R. J., & Farmer, L. D. M. (2014). Understanding and checking the assumptions of linear regression: a primer for medical researchers: Assumptions of linear regression. *Clinical & experimental ophthalmology*, 42(6), 590-596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ceo.12358</u>
- Chang, T.-Z., & Wildt, A. R. (1994). Price, Product Information, and Purchase Intention: An Empirical Study. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 22(1), 16-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070394221002</u>

- Chen, Y.-H., Hsu, I. C., & Lin, C.-C. (2010). Website attributes that increase consumer purchase intention: A conjoint analysis. *Journal of business research*, 63(9), 1007-1014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2009.01.023</u> (Journal of Business Research)
- Chevalier, S. (2022). *Global retail e-commerce sales 2014-2026*. Statista. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/379046/worldwide-retail-e-commerce-sales/</u>
- Chittenden, l., & Rettie, r. (2003). An evaluation of e-mail marketing and factors affecting response. *Journal of targeting, measurement and analysis for marketing*, *11*(3), 203.
- Coleman, R. (2019). *Designing experiments for the social sciences : how to plan, create, and execute research using experiments*. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Cooper, J., Crano, W. D., & Forgas, J. P. (2010). *The psychology of attitudes and attitude change*. Psychology Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203841303</u>
- Coussement, K., & Van den Poel, D. (2009). Improving customer attrition prediction by integrating emotions from client/company interaction emails and evaluating multiple classifiers. *Expert system with applications*, *36*(3), 6127-6134.
- Cukurova, M., Luckin, R., & Kent, C. (2020). Impact of an Artificial Intelligence Research Frame on the Perceived Credibility of Educational Research Evidence. *International journal of artificial intelligence in education*, 30(2), 205-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40593-019-00188-w</u>
- Davenport, T., Guha, A., Grewal, D., & Bressgott, T. (2019). How artificial intelligence will change the future of marketing. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 48(1), 24-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-019-00696-0</u>
- Dawson, S., & Kim, M. (2010). Cues on apparel web sites that trigger impulse purchases. Journal of fashion marketing and management, 14(2), 230-246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13612021011046084</u>
- Della Porta, D., & Keating, M. (2008). *Approaches and methodologies in the social sciences : a pluralist perspective*. Cambridge University Press.

- Du, S., & Xie, C. (2021). Paradoxes of artificial intelligence in consumer markets: Ethical challenges and opportunities. *Journal of business research*, 129, 961-974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.08.024</u>
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Ismagilova, E., Hughes, D. L., Carlson, J., Filieri, R., Jacobson, J., . . . Wang, Y. (2021). Setting the future of digital and social media marketing research:
 Perspectives and research propositions. *International journal of information management*, 59, 102168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102168</u>
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Kshetri, N., Hughes, L., Slade, E. L., Jeyaraj, A., Kar, A. K., ... Wright, R. (2023a). "So what if ChatGPT wrote it?" Multidisciplinary perspectives on opportunities, challenges and implications of generative conversational AI for research, practice and policy. *International journal of information management*, *71*, 102642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102642</u>
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Kshetri, N., Hughes, L., Slade, E. L., Jeyaraj, A., Kar, A. K., . . . Wright, R. (2023b). "So what if ChatGPT wrote it?" Multidisciplinary perspectives on opportunities, challenges and implications of generative conversational AI for research, practice and policy. *International journal of information management*, 71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102642
- Edwards, J. R. (2020). The Peaceful Coexistence of Ethics and Quantitative Research. Journal of business ethics, 167(1), 31-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04197-6</u>
- Elliott, M. T., & Speck, P. S. (2005). Factors that Affect Attitude Toward a Retail Web Site. *Journal of marketing theory and practice*, *13*(1), 40-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2005.11658537</u>
- Euchner, J. (2023). Generative AI. *Research technology management*, 66(3), 71-74. https://doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2023.2188861
- Evans, J. R., & Mathur, A. (2018). The value of online surveys: a look back and a look ahead. Internet research, 28(4), 854-887. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-03-2018-0089</u>

- Forbus, K. D. (2010). AI and Cognitive Science: The Past and Next 30 Years. *Topics in cognitive science*, 2(3), 345-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-8765.2010.01083.x</u>
- George, J. F. (2004). The theory of planned behavior and Internet purchasing. *Internet research*, *14*(3), 198-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240410542634</u>
- Gielens, K., & Steenkamp, J.-B. E. M. (2019). Branding in the era of digital (dis)intermediation. *International journal of research in marketing*, 36(3), 367-384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2019.01.005</u>
- Gillham, B. (2007). Developing a questionnaire (Second edition. ed.). Continuum.
- Glasman, L. R., & Albarracín, D. (2006). Forming Attitudes That Predict Future Behavior: A Meta-Analysis of the Attitude-Behavior Relation. *Psychological bulletin*, 132(5), 778-822. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.5.778</u>
- Goles, T., & Hirschheim, R. (2000). The paradigm is dead, the paradigm is dead...long live the paradigm: the legacy of Burrell and Morgan. *Omega (Oxford)*, 28(3), 249-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-0483(99)00042-0
- Gummer, T., Roßmann, J., & Silber, H. (2021). Using Instructed Response Items as Attention Checks in Web Surveys: Properties and Implementation. *Sociological methods & research*, 50(1), 238-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124118769083</u>
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet. Journal of marketing theory and practice, 19(2), 139-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202</u>
- Haleem, A., Javaid, M., Asim Qadri, M., Pratap Singh, R., & Suman, R. (2022). Artificial intelligence (AI) applications for marketing: A literature-based study. *International Journal of Intelligent Networks*, 3, 119-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijin.2022.08.005</u>
- Hannah, r. C., Swain, S. D., & Smith, J. (2016). *Email-marketing in a digital world: The basics and beyond* (first ed.). Business expert press.
- Hansen, T. (2008). Consumer values, the theory of planned behaviour and online grocery shopping. *International journal of consumer studies*, 32(2), 128-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2007.00655.x</u>
- Hernandez, B., Jimenez, J., & Martin, M. J. (2010). Customer behavior in electronic commerce: The moderating effect of e-purchasing experience. *Journal of business research*, 63(9), 964-971. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2009.01.019</u>
- Hetts, J. J., Sakuma, M., & Pelham, B. W. (1999). Two Roads to Positive Regard: Implicit and Explicit Self-Evaluation and Culture. *Journal of experimental social psychology*, 35(6), 512-559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jesp.1999.1391</u>
- Horowitz, M. C., & Kahn, L. (2021). What influences attitudes about artificial intelligence adoption: Evidence from U.S. local officials. *PloS one*, *16*(10), e0257732-e0257732. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257732</u>
- Hsin Chang, H., Rizal, H., & Amin, H. (2013). The determinants of consumer behavior towards email advertisement. *Internet research*, 23(3), 316-337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/10662241311331754</u>
- Huang, M.-H., & Rust, R. T. (2020). A strategic framework for artificial intelligence in marketing. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 49(1), 30-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-020-00749-9</u>
- Jiménez-Buedo, M., & Miller, L. M. (2010). Why a Trade-Off? The Relationship between the External and Internal Validity of Experiments. *Theoria (Madrid, Spain)*, 25(3(69)), 301-321.
- Jiménez-Buedo, M., & Russo, F. (2021). Experimental practices and objectivity in the social sciences: re-embedding construct validity in the internal–external validity distinction. Synthese (Dordrecht), 199(3-4), 9549-9579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-021-03215-3</u>
- Kankam, P. K. (2019). The use of paradigms in information research. *Library & information science research*, *41*(2), 85-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2019.04.003</u>

- Kelley, D. L. (1999). *Measurement made accessible : a research approach using qualitative, quantitative, & quality improvement methods.* Sage Publications.
- Klaus, T., & Changchit, C. (2019). Toward an Understanding of Consumer Attitudes on Online Review Usage. *The Journal of computer information systems*, 59(3), 277-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2017.1348916</u>
- Koufaris, M. (2002). Applying the Technology Acceptance Model and Flow Theory to Online Consumer Behavior. *Information systems research*, 13(2), 205-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.13.2.205.83</u>
- Kreutzer, R. T., & Sirrenberg, M. (2020). Understanding Artificial Intelligence Fundamentals, Use Cases and Methods for a Corporate AI Journey (1st 2020. ed.).
 Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25271-7</u>
- Krishen, A. S., Dwivedi, Y. K., Bindu, N., & Kumar, K. S. (2021). A broad overview of interactive digital marketing: A bibliometric network analysis. *Journal of business research*, 131, 183-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.03.061</u>
- Kulkov, I. (2021). The role of artificial intelligence in business transformation: A case of pharmaceutical companies. *Technology in society*, 66, 101629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101629</u>
- Kwon, J., & Ahn, J. (2021). The effect of green CSR skepticism on positive attitude, reactance, and behavioral intention. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Insights*, 4(1), 59-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTI-05-2020-0074</u>
- Lee, H.-H., Wu, Y.-L., & Su, T.-C. (2021). Study on the attitude and satisfaction of tourists in Taiwan's leisure argiculture online marketing adopting the theory of innovation diffusion. *International journal of organizational innovation*, *14*(2), 85-105.
- Lee, Y., & Kozar, K. A. (2008). An empirical investigation of anti-spyware software adoption: A multitheoretical perspective. *Information & management*, 45(2), 109-119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2008.01.002</u>

- Leitao, P. (2013). Multi-agent Systems in Industry: Current Trends & Future Challenges. In (pp. 197-201). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-34422-0_13</u>
- Lim, H.-R., & An, S. (2021). Intention to purchase wellbeing food among Korean consumers: An application of the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Food quality and preference*, 88, 104101-104101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2020.104101</u>
- Lim, W. M., Gunasekara, A., Pallant, J. L., Pallant, J. I., & Pechenkina, E. (2023). Generative AI and the future of education: Ragnarök or reformation? A paradoxical perspective from management educators. *The international journal of management education*, 21(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2023.100790
- Lin, H.-F. (2011). An empirical investigation of mobile banking adoption: The effect of innovation attributes and knowledge-based trust. *International journal of information management*, 31(3), 252-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2010.07.006</u>
- Lin, W.-B., Wang, M.-K., & Hwang, K. P. (2010). The combined model of influencing online consumer behavior. *Expert systems with applications*, 37(4), 3236-3247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2009.09.056</u>
- Liu, V., & Chilton, L. B. (2021). Design Guidelines for Prompt Engineering Text-to-Image Generative Models. <u>https://doi.org/10.48550/arxiv.2109.06977</u>
- Liu, W., Wang, Y., & Wang, Z. (2020). An empirical study of continuous use behavior in virtual learning community. *PloS one*, *15*(7), e0235814-e0235814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0235814</u>
- Loewenstein, G. (1999). Experimental Economics From the Vantage-point of Behavioural Economics. *The Economic journal (London)*, *109*(453), 25-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0297.00400</u>
- Long, M. A., Chei Sian, L. E. E., & Goh, D. H.-L. (2014). Understanding news sharing in social media: An explanation from the diffusion of innovations theory. *Online information review*, 38(5), 598-615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/OIR-10-2013-0239</u>

- Lonsdale, D. (2017). Intentions to Cheat: Ajzen's Planned Behavior and Goal-Related Personality Facets. *The journal of psychology*, *151*(2), 113-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2016.1241737</u>
- Lund, B., Omame, I., Tijani, S., & Agbaji, D. (2020). Perceptions toward Artificial Intelligence among Academic Library Employees and Alignment with the Diffusion of Innovations' Adopter Categories. *College & research libraries*, 81(5), 865. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.81.5.865</u>
- Lundberg, M., Engström, S., & Lidelöw, H. (2019). Diffusion of innovation in a contractor company: The impact of the social system structure on the implementation process. *Construction innovation*, 19(4), 629-652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CI-08-2018-0061</u>
- Ma, L., & Sun, B. (2020). Machine learning and AI in marketing Connecting computing power to human insights. *International journal of research in marketing*, 37(3), 481-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2020.04.005</u>
- Mahmud, B. U., Hong, G. Y., & Fong, B. (2022). A Study of Human-AI Symbiosis for Creative Work: Recent Developments and Future Directions in Deep Learning. ACM transactions on multimedia computing communications and applications. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3542698</u>
- Maneesriwongul, W., & Dixon, J. K. (2004). Instrument translation process: a methods review. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 48(2), 175-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03185.x</u>
- Mariani, M. M., Perez-Vega, R., & Wirtz, J. (2022). AI in marketing, consumer research and psychology: A systematic literature review and research agenda. *Psychology & marketing*, 39(4), 755-776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.21619</u>
- Meade, A. W., & Craig, S. B. (2012). Identifying Careless Responses in Survey Data. *Psychological methods*, 17(3), 437-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028085</u>
- Menzli, L. J., Smirani, L. K., Boulahia, J. A., & Hadjouni, M. (2022). Investigation of open educational resources adoption in higher education using Rogers' diffusion of

innovation theory. *Heliyon*, 8(7), e09885-e09885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09885

- Mesquita, J. M. C. d., & Kostelijk, E. (2022). *Marketing analytics : statistical tools for marketing and consumer behaviour using SPSS*. Routledge.
- Min, S., So, K. K. F., & Jeong, M. (2019). Consumer adoption of the Uber mobile application: Insights from diffusion of innovation theory and technology acceptance model. *Journal of travel & tourism marketing*, 36(7), 770-783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2018.1507866</u>
- Moore, G. C., & Benbasat, I. (1991). Development of an Instrument to Measure the Perceptions of Adopting an Information Technology Innovation. *Information systems research*, 2(3), 192-222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2.3.192</u>
- Morgan, G. A. (2004). SPSS for introductory statistics use and interpretation (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Mukhles, M. A.-A. (2020). Linking Ontology, Epistemology And Research Methodology. Science & Philosophy, 8(1), 75-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.23756/sp.v8i1.500</u>
- Murat, A. (2021). Understanding the impacts of lifestyle segmentation & perceived value on brand purchase intention: An empirical study in different product categories.
 European Research on Management and Business Economics, 27(3), 100-155.
- Mustak, M., Salminen, J., Plé, L., & Wirtz, J. (2021). Artificial intelligence in marketing: Topic modeling, scientometric analysis, and research agenda. *Journal of business research*, 124, 389-404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.10.044</u>
- Nair, S. R. (2009). Consumer behaviour and marketing research (text and cases) (Rev. ed.). Himalaya Pub. House.
- Nicolescu, L., & Tudorache, M. T. (2022). Human-Computer Interaction in Customer Service: The Experience with AI Chatbots—A Systematic Literature Review. *Electronics (Basel)*, 11(10), 1579. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics11101579</u>

- Nordhoff, S., Malmsten, V., van Arem, B., Liu, P., & Happee, R. (2021). A structural equation modeling approach for the acceptance of driverless automated shuttles based on constructs from the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology and the Diffusion of Innovation Theory. *Transportation research. Part F, Traffic psychology and behaviour*, 78, 58-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2021.01.001
- Obermiller, C., Spangenberg, E., & MacLachlan, D. L. (2005). AD SKEPTICISM: The Consequences of Disbelief. *Journal of advertising*, *34*(3), 7-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2005.10639199</u>
- Obermiller, C., & Spangenberg, E. R. (1998). Development of a Scale to Measure Consumer Skepticism Toward Advertising. *Journal of consumer psychology*, 7(2), 159-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327663jcp0702_03</u>
- O'Shaughnessy, M. R., Schiff, D. S., Varshney, L. R., Rozell, C. J., & Davenport, M. A.
 (2022). What governs attitudes toward artificial intelligence adoption and governance? Science & public policy. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scac056</u>
- Pallant, J. F. (2005). SPSS survival manual : a step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS. In (2nd ed.): *Allen & Unwin*.
- Panter, A. T., & Sterba, S. K. (2011). *Handbook of ethics in quantitative methodology*. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203840023</u>
- Park, Y., & Chen, J. V. (2007). Acceptance and adoption of the innovative use of smartphone. Industrial management + data systems, 107(9), 1349-1365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02635570710834009</u>
- Paydas Turan, C. (2021). Success drivers of co-branding: A meta-analysis. *International journal of consumer studies*, 45(4), 911-936. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12682</u>
- Perry, K. H. (2007). 'I Want the World to Know': The Ethics of Anonymity in Ethnographic Literacy Research. In (Vol. 12, pp. 137-154). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1529-210X(06)12008-2</u>

- Persson, A., Laaksoharju, M., & Koga, H. (2021). We Mostly Think Alike: Individual Differences in Attitude Towards AI in Sweden and Japan. *The review of socionetwork strategies*, 15(1), 123-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12626-021-00071-y</u>
- Philipp, H., Andreas, E., & Theresa, L. (2023). Understanding and Regulating ChatGPT, and Other Large Generative AI Models. *Verfassungsblog* (2366-7044).
- Pieters, W. (2017). Beyond individual-centric privacy: Information technology in social systems. *The Information society*, 33(5), 271-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01972243.2017.1354108</u>
- Prodanova, J., San-Martín, S., & Jimenez, N. (2021). Are you technologically prepared for mobile shopping? *The Service industries journal*, 41(9-10), 648-670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2018.1492561</u>
- PTS. (2019). Användning av internet och telefoni i Sverige. In. Post- och telestyrelsen: Post- och telestyrelsen.
- Rajagopal. (2022). *Agile marketing strategies : new approaches to engaging consumer behavior*. Springer.
- Reimers, V., Chao, C.-W., & Gorman, S. (2016). Permission email marketing and its influence on online shopping. *Asia Pacific journal of marketing and logistics*, 28(2), 308-322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/APJML-03-2015-0037</u>
- Rochel, J. (2023). Learning from the Ethics of AI A Research Proposal on Soft Law and Ethics of AI. *Tilburg law review*, 27(1), 37-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/tilr.297</u>
- Rogers, E. M. (1962). How research can improve practice: A case study. *Theory into practice*, *1*(2), 89-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405846209541785
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5. ed.). Free press.

- Roos, D., & Hahn, R. (2017). Does shared consumption affect consumers' values, attitudes, and norms? A panel study. *Journal of business research*, 77, 113-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.04.011</u>
- Rust, R. T. (2020). The future of marketing. *International journal of research in marketing*, 37(1), 15-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2019.08.002</u>
- Salancik, G. R., & Pfeffer, J. (1978). A Social Information Processing Approach to Job Attitudes and Task Design. *Administrative science quarterly*, 23(2), 224-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2392563</u>
- Sarath Kumar Boddu, R., Santoki, A. A., Khurana, S., Vitthal Koli, P., Rai, R., & Agrawal, A. (2022). An analysis to understand the role of machine learning, robotics and artificial intelligence in digital marketing. *Materials today : proceedings*, 56, 2288-2292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2021.11.637</u>
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students* (7. ed.). Pearson Education.
- SCB, S. c. n. (2021). Befolkningens it-användning 2021. In: Statistiska centralbyrån.
- Schram, A. (2005). Artificiality: The tension between internal and external validity in economic experiments. *The journal of economic methodology*, *12*(2), 225-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13501780500086081</u>
- Schuman, H., & Presser, S. (1996). *Questions and answers in attitude surveys : experiments on question form, wording, and context.* Sage.
- Shareef, M. A., Dwivedi, Y. K., & Kumar, V. (2016). Mobile Marketing Channel Online Consumer Behavior (1st 2016. ed.). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31287-3</u>
- Sheehan, B., Jin, H. S., & Gottlieb, U. (2020). Customer service chatbots: Anthropomorphism and adoption. *Journal of business research*, 115, 14-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.04.030</u>

- Shin, D. (2020). User Perceptions of Algorithmic Decisions in the Personalized AI System:Perceptual Evaluation of Fairness, Accountability, Transparency, and Explainability. *Journal of broadcasting & electronic media*, 64(4), 541-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2020.1843357</u>
- Shin, D. (2022). How do people judge the credibility of algorithmic sources? *AI & society*, 37(1), 81-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-021-01158-4</u>
- Shin, D., & Park, Y. J. (2019). Role of fairness, accountability, and transparency in algorithmic affordance. *Computers in human behavior*, 98, 277-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.04.019</u>
- Shobeiri, S., Mazaheri, E., & Laroche, M. (2015). How Would the E-Retailer's Website Personality Impact Customers' Attitudes toward the Site? *Journal of marketing theory and practice*, 23(4), 388-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2015.1049682</u>
- Smith, J. R., Terry, D. J., Manstead, A. S. R., Louis, W. R., Kotterman, D., & Wolfs, J. (2008). The Attitude-Behavior Relationship in Consumer Conduct: The Role of Norms, Past Behavior, and Self-Identity. *The Journal of social psychology*, 148(3), 311-334. <u>https://doi.org/10.3200/SOCP.148.3.311-334</u>
- Spears, N., & Singh, S. N. (2004). Measuring Attitude toward the Brand and Purchase Intentions. Journal of current issues and research in advertising, 26(2), 53-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10641734.2004.10505164</u>
- Stevens, J. (1996). *Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences* (3. ed.). Mahwah, N.J. : Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Taylor, S., & Todd, P. A. (1995). Understanding Information Technology Usage: A Test of Competing Models. *Information systems research*, 6(2), 144-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.6.2.144</u>
- Team, I. P. (2017). *EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) : an implementation and compliance guide* (2nd ed.). IT Governance Publishing.

- Thormundsson, B. (2022). Artificial Intelligence (AI) market size/revenue comparisons 2018-2030. Statista. <u>https://www-statista-com.proxy.library.ju.se/statistics/941835/artificial-</u> intelligence-market-size-revenue-comparisons/?locale=en
- Trochim, W. M. K., & Donnelly, J. P. (2007). *Research methods knowledge base* (3rd ed.). Thomson Custom Pub.
- Tsfati, Y. (2003). Media Skepticism and Climate of Opinion Perception. *International journal for quality in health care*, *15*(1), 65-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpor/15.1.65</u>
- Vlačić, B., Corbo, L., Costa e Silva, S., & Dabić, M. (2021). The evolving role of artificial intelligence in marketing: A review and research agenda. *Journal of business research*, 128, 187-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.01.055</u>
- Vuong, B. N., & Khanh Giao, H. N. (2020). The Impact of Perceived Brand Globalness on Consumers' Purchase Intention and the Moderating Role of Consumer Ethnocentrism: An Evidence from Vietnam. *Journal of international consumer marketing*, 32(1), 47-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530.2019.1619115</u>
- Waddell, T. F. (2018). A Robot Wrote This?: How perceived machine authorship affects news credibility. *Digital journalism*, 6(2), 236-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2017.1384319</u>
- Woiceshyn, J., & Daellenbach, U. (2018). Evaluating inductive vs deductive research in management studies: Implications for authors, editors, and reviewers. *Qualitative* research in organizations and management, 13(2), 183-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-06-2017-1538</u>
- Wu, S.-I. (2003). The relationship between consumer characteristics and attitude toward online shopping. *Marketing intelligence & planning*, 21(1), 37-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02634500310458135</u>
- Wu, Y., Mou, Y., Li, Z., & Xu, K. (2020). Investigating American and Chinese Subjects' explicit and implicit perceptions of AI-Generated artistic work. *Computers in human behavior*, 104, 106186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.106186</u>

- Xu, S., & Li, W. (2022). A tool or a social being? A dynamic longitudinal investigation of functional use and relational use of AI voice assistants. *New media & society*, 146144482211081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14614448221108112</u>
- Zyphur, M. J., & Pierides, D. C. (2017). Is Quantitative Research Ethical? Tools for Ethically Practicing, Evaluating, and Using Quantitative Research. *Journal of business ethics*, 143(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8</u>
- Žukauskas, P. (2018). Philosophy and Paradigm of Scientific Research. In. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.70628